
Page 1 of 4

OFFICIAL MINUTES 
REGULAR TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 

THURSDAY, OCTOBER 23, 2025 – 9:00 AM 
TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER SHORES 

The regular monthly meeting of the Town of Indian River Shores Town Council was held on Thursday, October 
23, 2025, at 9:00 a.m. in Council Chambers, 6001 Highway A1A, Indian River Shores, Florida. 
Councilmembers present were Brian T. Foley, Mayor; Bob Auwaerter, Vice Mayor; Sam Carroll, 
Councilmember and James Altieri, Councilmember. Also present were James Harpring, Town Manager; 
Heather Christmas, Finance Director; Peter Sweeney, Town Attorney and Janice C. Rutan, Town Clerk. 

1. Call to Order
a. Invocation
b. Pledge of Allegiance
c. Roll Call

Mayor Foley called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. Councilmember Carroll offered the Invocation. Mayor 
Foley led in the Pledge of Allegiance. The Town Clerk called the roll. All members were present except 
Councilmember Dane. 

2. Agenda Reordering, Deletions, or Emergency Additions
There being no reordering, deletions or additions, a motion was made by Councilmember Carroll, seconded 
by Vice Mayor Auwaerter, and unanimously approved (4-0) to approve the agenda as presented.

3. Presentations/Proclamations
a. Presentation of Dr. David K. Moore, Indian River County Superintendent of Schools

Dr. Moore was proud to announce that Indian River County School District had gone from having only 46% 
to 95% of its schools A rated. The district also boasts a 96% graduation rate, which is the highest in the State.  
Additional highlights included:  

Ninety percent of high school students are in advanced classes or dual enrollment. 
Most middle school students are enrolled in an accelerated course.  
Third grade students are reading at or above grade level, again the highest in the state. 

Vice Mayor Auwaerter extended compliments to Dr. Moore and his team.  
In response to Councilmember Carroll, Dr. Moore explained that their curriculum was grounded in the 
science of reading using phonics as a base adding that the Indian River County School District’s academic 
outcomes are much higher than average state levels.  
Mayor Foley also extended his appreciation to Dr. Moore.   

b. Proclamation October 2025 as Cybersecurity Awareness Month
Mayor Foley read the Proclamation into the record.  
Town Manager Harpring a possible shade session to discuss Town Cyber Security policies or if they would 
prefer to meet one on one.  

4. Comments From the Public Regarding Agenda Items(s)
None.

1

5a.



Page 2 of 4 
 

5. Consent Agenda  
a. Approval of Minutes of First Public Budget Hearing and Special Call Meeting dated September 16, 

2025 
b. Approval of Minutes of Final Public Budget Hearing and Town Council Meeting dated September 23, 

2025 
c. Adoption of Resolution No. 25-14 Mission Square Access Designation    
d. Adoption of Resolution No. 25-16 Adopting the Unified Local Mitigation Strategy Update of 2025 
e. Appointment of Danette Dieffenback to MPO Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee   
f. Approval of Public Safety Department Vehicle Purchase  

A motion was made by Councilmember Carroll and seconded by Vice Mayor Auwaerter to approve the 
Consent Agenda as presented. The Town Clerk called the roll. All members present voted in the affirmative 
with the motion passing unanimously (4-0).  

 
Vice Mayor Auwaerter introduced Danette Dieffenbach as the Town’s newly appointed representative on the 
Indian River County Metropolitan Planning Organization Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee. 
Council expressed their appreciation to Ms. Dieffenbach for her willingness to serve on the committee.  
          
6. Mayor’s Report 
Mayor Foley addressed inaccuracies in a recent article in 32963 regarding the Town’s transition between 
Republic Services and Waste Management (WM) for Solid Waste and Recycling Services.  
 
Mayor Foley next reported on the ongoing dialogue around property taxes and referenced a memo from 
Daniel Perez, Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives, outlining eight tax relief proposals. Two key 
provisions are prohibiting any reduction in funding for law enforcement, and the exemption of school taxes. 
Various possible impacts were discussed. Mayor Foley expressed his concern about having property tax 
reform without addressing utility rates and special taxing districts, explaining it would just be a shift from 
collecting real estate taxes to other assessments including special taxing districts.  
 
Discussion continued concerning the tax reform issue and housing. Vice Mayor Auwaerter advised he 
reached out to the Indian River County Tax Collector’s office and learned that no homesteaded property had 
gone to tax sale in the past 5 years. For non-homesteaded properties, there have been five tax sales in the 
past 5 years.  
 
Vice Mayor Auwaerter felt it unfair to shift the tax burden from taxpayers over sixty-five to others, adding that 
although law enforcement could not be affected, fire department and EMS services could be become a tax 
or fee.  
 
7. Councilmember Items 

a. Vice Mayor Auwaerter 
i. Florida League of Cities Policy Committee Report 

Covered earlier 
ii. Vero Beach Finance Commission Meeting, Wastewater Plant Financing 

Vice Mayor Auwaerter attended the City of Vero Beach Finance Committee meeting. The cost of the Water 
Reclamation facility had increased in price from the original proposed cost of $82 million to $164.8 million. 
He has been working with the city to assist them in trying to get lowest rates for financing. Vice Mayor 
Auwaerter presented a financing plan outlining the debt service projection for the project with the financing 
broken into two phases; borrowing $55 million to get started and then an additional $70 million for a total 
bond amount of $125 million.  

2



Page 3 of 4 
 

 
Vice Mayor Auwaerter noted that the figures being used were a close estimation, however, there is a “not to 
exceed” clause in the contract. The final cost could reach $223 million due to financing.  
 
Mayor Foley expressed his appreciation to Vice Mayor Auwaerter noting it was in the best interest of the Town 
to keep all costs down as it will benefit the ratepayers. 
 
Discussion followed.  

 
8. Discussion with Possible or Probable Action 

a. Approval of Ordinance No. 582  Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan (Second Reading) 
Attorney Sweeney read the title. Mayor Foley opened the Public Hearing. There being no comment, a motion 
was made by Councilmember Carroll and seconded by Vice Mayor Auwaerter to approve Ordinance No. 582 
on second reading. The Town Clerk called the roll. All members in attendance voted in the affirmative. The 
motion passed unanimously (4-0). 

 
b. Approval of Ordinance No. 584  Amendment to Section 165.16 (First Reading)  

Attorney Sweeney read the title. Mayor Foley opened the Public Hearing. Councilmember Altieri explained 
that after his initial concerns, he had reviewed Senate Bill 180 as well as the FEMA Flood maps and was 
prepared to move forward.  
 
A motion was made by Vice Mayor Auwaerter and seconded by Councilmember Carroll to approve 
Ordinance No. 584 on first reading. The Town Clerk called the roll. All members in attendance voted in the 
affirmative. The motion passed unanimously (4-0). 
 

  
9. Staff Updates 

a. Building Official Report & Statistics 
Building Official Held was present. Vice Mayor Auwaerter commented that there had been a year to date 
drop in number of permits issued.  

b. Code Enforcement Report  
Code Officer Maikranz was present. Vice Mayor Auwaerter expressed his appreciation to Officer Maikranz 
for the new format of his report, including the graphs.  

c. Public Works Department Report 
Town Manager Harpring offered the Public Works report noting they had been cleaning up the north and 
south entrances to the Town. Town Manager Harping reported that both Public Works and Facilities were 
working extremely hard.  

d. Town Treasurer Report 
Heather Christmas, Town Treasurer announced Erika Maeda had been hired as a bookkeeper.  

e. Public Safety Department Report & Statistics 
Assistant Chief Ryer addressed the Town Council on matters relating to E-bikes on local streets. He 
explained that E-Bikes were afforded all rights and privileges as the operator of a regular bicycle. An operator 
may ride an electric bicycle where bicycles are allowed including highways, roadways, shoulders, bicycle 
lanes, and bicycle multiuse paths. A multiuse path is often a shared use path.  

 
Chief Ryer noted the Town of Indian River Shores no Ordinance governing the operation of golf carts. Golf 
carts are not allowed to operate on sidewalks unless approved by local government. He went over the 
specific rules governing golf carts on streets and highways. Golf carts are not allowed to operate on Highway 

3



Page 4 of 4 
 

A1A, they are only allowed to operate on roadways with speed limits of 30 mph or less. They are not allowed 
on sidewalks or on bicycle lanes. 

 
Assistant Chief Ryer reported on PSD activity to include officers participating in an active shooter drill and 
other recertifications.  
 
 
10. Town Attorney Report 
None 
 
11. Town Manager Report 
Town Manager Harpring expressed appreciation to Town personnel for their excellent work. 
 
12. Council/Committee Reports or Non-Action Items 

a. Call for Committee Reports, Informational Updates or Comments  
Councilmember Altieri reported that the next meeting of the City of Vero Beach Utilities Commission would 
be held in December.  

 
It was announced five firms were bidding on the sand restoration project.  

 
Mayor Foley attended the Treasure Coast Council of Local Governments meeting during which the main 
topic of discussion was the wide-ranging effect of Senate Bill 180. At the same meeting, there was a 
presentation by Career Source which serves as a search team where positions in local government need to 
be filled.  
 
Vice Mayor Auwaerter attended the meeting of the Treasure Coast League of Cities during which proposed 
property tax reform was discussed. The Beach and Shore Preservation Committee meeting reported that 
this year had been an unprecedented green sea turtle nesting season. 
 
Beach restoration will begin on December 1 for Sector 5 north of tracking Station down into the City of Vero 
Beach limits. 

 
12. Call to Audience 
None. 
 
14. Adjournment 
With no further business to come before the Ton Council, the meeting adjourned at 10:13 a.m.  
 
Approved: November 20, 2025 
 
        
Janice C. Rutan, Town Clerk 
 
 
  

4



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: October 30, 2025 

SUBJECT: Sole Source Approval – Communications International, Inc. 

BACKGROUND: 

Staff requests approval of Communications International, Inc., as the sole source provider 
for radio equipment, programming and maintenance services. Please see the attached Sole 
Source Justification memorandum for further information. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommend Communications International, Inc. as a sole source provider. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Sole Source Justification Memorandum
2. Section 31.02, Code of Ordinances

5

5b.



6001 Highway A1A, Indian River Shores, FL  32963 
(772) 231-1771         

 
                    

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM  
 
To:  Jim Harpring, Town Manager 
From:  Heather Christmas, Town Treasurer 
Date:  October 09, 2025 
Subject: Sole Source Justification – Communications International, Inc. (CI) 
 
Purpose 
This memorandum provides justification for designating Communications International, Inc. (CI) as 
a sole source provider for radio equipment, programming, and maintenance services for the Public 
Safety Department, in accordance with Town Code §31.02(4), which allows for noncompetitive 
procurement when there is only one practical source. 
 
Background 
Public Safety Department radios operate on the P25 public safety radio system, which provides 
interoperability with other local, regional and state emergency service agencies. As such, Indian 
River County contracts with CI to maintain and support the local public safety system infrastructure, 
software, and firmware. The Public Safety Department communication equipment must remain 
compatible with the County’s network to ensure statutory compliance and reliable communication. 
 
CI maintains the County’s P25 system and its configuration, encryption, and programming 
standards. CI is also the authorized L3Harris service provider for software, firmware, and security 
updates that align with the County’s system. Public Safety Department radios are programmed and 
serviced by CI, providing consistent performance and compatibility with emergency service 
providers. CI maintains a local presence allowing for timely on-site service and technical support. 
 
Conclusion 
As the Town’s Purchasing Agent, I recommend submitting this sole source designation to the Town 
Council for approval of Communications International, Inc. as the sole source vendor for Fiscal Year 
2025–2026, with authorization for annual renewal subject to budget appropriation and satisfactory 
performance. 
 
 

MAYOR 
   BRIAN T. FOLEY 
 
VICE MAYOR 
   BOB AUWAERTER 
 
COUNCIL: 
   JAMES ALTIERI 
   JESSE L. “SAM” CARROLL, JR. 
   WILLIAM DANE 

 

TOWN MANAGER 
   JAMES HARPRING, JD 
 
TOWN CLERK 
   JANICE C. RUTAN 
 
TOWN ATTORNEY 
   PETER J. SWEENEY, JR. 
 
 

6



 
 

 
    Created: 2025-08-26 15:46:49 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 6) 

 
Page 1 of 2 

Sec. 31.02. Procurement of goods and service. 

(a) Purchasing thresholds. Any request for the purchase of materials, equipment, services and supplies unless 
otherwise exempt under this section is subject to competitive bid procedures as follows:  

(1) Up to $10,000—The Town Purchasing Agent or their designee may authorize purchase.  

(2) $10,000.01 to $35,000—The Town Manager may authorize purchase.  

(3) Over $35,000—Formal sealed bids and Town Council authorization are required.  

(b) Exceptions to thresholds. 

(1) Joint bid. The Purchasing Agent shall have the authority to cooperate with other local governments or 
other public entities in the development and use of mutually cooperative procurement contracts or 
master agreements. Approval shall be in accordance with the dollar threshold established by this 
section.  

(2) Piggyback. The Purchasing Agent or Town Manager shall have the authority to utilize contracts or 
master agreements of state, federal or other local governments or other public entities to procure 
goods and services, if the contract or agreement has been awarded through procedures substantially 
equivalent to the requirements of this section. The Purchasing Officer shall have the authority to 
procure goods and services if the purchase is with a person, firm, organization, or corporation whose 
offer to sell to the Town is at sale price for that commodity equal to or lower than the existing 
piggyback price for the same or equal commodity being sought. Approval shall be in accordance with 
the dollar threshold established by this section.  

(3) Professional services. Contracts for professional services, including, but not limited to, architects, 
attorneys, accountants, engineers, and surveyors, may, upon approval by the Town Manager or the 
Town Council depending on value, be entered without competitive bidding. A review of the 
qualifications, work history, and other relevant data will be done before contracts for such services are 
entered.  

(4) Sole source. A contract may be awarded for goods or services without competitive bids when the 
Purchasing Agent or designee provides written documentation asserting that there is only one practical 
source for the required item. Approval shall be in accordance with the dollar threshold established by 
this section.  

(5) Emergency purchase. Where the Purchasing Agent finds it to be in the best interest of the Town, an 
emergency procurement condition may be declared, which suspends any or all provisions of this 
section. All emergency purchases over $35,000 shall be reported to Council as soon as practical. As 
used in this section, the term "emergency" means a sudden unexpected turn of events that causes:  

a. An immediate danger to the public health or safety;  

b. An immediate danger of loss of public or private property;  

c. An interruption in the delivery of an essential governmental service; or  

d. An interruption in the normal function and operation of any Town department that would result 
in a work stoppage or other substantial monetary loss.  

(6) Change orders. The Town Manager may approve cumulative changes of up to 15 percent of the total 
contract price. Changes in excess of 15 percent of the total contract price or any change in excess of 
$35,000 must have the prior approval of the Town Council.  

7



 
 

 
    Created: 2025-08-26 15:46:49 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 6) 

 
Page 2 of 2 

(7) Contract renewals. Any contract containing a provision for renewal may be renewed in accordance 
with its terms. Authorization for approval shall be in accordance with the dollar threshold established 
by this section.  

(c) Exemptions to applicability. This section shall not apply to:  

(1) Purchases between the Council and nonprofit organizations, other governments, or other public 
entities, and intragovernmental services.  

(2) Purchases of advertising, works of art for public display, medically-related professional services, 
employee benefit-related purchases, water, utility services, postage, shows/displays/cultural events 
sponsored by the Town.  

(3) Purchase of real property.  

(4) Professional and personal service contracts including, but not limited to, attorney services, appraisers 
and expert witness services, which shall be approved by the Town Council if in excess of $35,000.  

(5) Procurement of goods and services when the same is governed by a mandatory procedure established 
by statute.  

(6) Franchise, sponsorship or joint enterprise agreements.  

(7) Any situation where compliance with this Code will place the Town in conflict with mandatory 
provisions of state law, federal law or the terms of any grant.  

(d) Prohibitions. No contract or purchase shall:  

(1) Be purposely subdivided to circumvent any requirements of this section.  

(2) Be made in excess of the amounts allocated from the general fund for the general classification of 
expenditures in the budget for the then-current budget year, nor shall any expense of a special fund 
exceed the amount of money available to that fund.  

(e) Waiver. Town Council may waive or modify the bidding requirements for good cause.  

(Ord. No. 541, § 1, 5-23-2019; Ord. No. 569, § 1, 5-13-2024) 

 

8



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: November 5, 2025 

SUBJECT: 2025 EMS-MC Ambulance Annual Adjustments and Allowances 

BACKGROUND: 

EMS Management & Consultants, Inc. (EMS-MC) began providing ambulance billing 
services on May 1, 2025. For the period May through September 2025, contractual 
adjustments totaled $5,690, representing 8.8% of gross charges. The current collection rate 
of 52.5% is within industry averages and expected to improve as receivables mature. No 
write-offs have been completed; all accounts remain under 180 days. An allowance for 
doubtful accounts has been established based on the Town’s historical collection 
experience. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommend approval of contractual adjustments totaling $5,690 for the period May 1, 
2025 through September 30, 2025. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Town Treasurer Memorandum
2. EMS-MC September 2025 Monthly Report

9

5c.



6001 Highway A1A, Indian River Shores, FL  32963 
(772) 231-1771         

 
                    

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM  
 
To:  Jim Harpring, Town Manager 
From:  Heather Christmas, Town Treasurer 
Date:  October 21, 2025 
Subject: 2025 EMS-MC Annual Adjustments and Allowances 
 
 

Beginning May 1, 2025, the Town engaged EMS Management & Consultants, Inc. (EMS-MC) to 
manage billing for ambulance services. Not all billed amounts are collectible due to Medicare and 
Medicaid reimbursement limits and the Town’s residency policies. EMS-MC invoices patients at 
gross and records contractual adjustments upon receipt of payment. 
 
For the period May 1 through September 30, 2025, contractual adjustments totaled $5,690, 
representing approximately 8.8 percent of gross charges. The Town’s current net collection rate is 
52.5 percent, consistent with the industry average of 50 to 55 percent for agencies not utilizing a 
collection service. This percentage is expected to improve next year as receivables mature and 
collections trend toward the Town’s historical rate of more than 70 percent. 
 
At this time, no write-offs have been completed. All receivables with EMS-MC are under 180 days 
old. Write-offs will be evaluated next fiscal year as accounts age beyond recovery thresholds.  
 
To more accurately reflect realizable revenue, the Town will establish an allowance for doubtful 
accounts based on historical collection experience as follows: 
 

Aging (Days) Allowance % 
0–60 0% 
61–120 25% 
121–150 75% 
151–180 90% 
181+ 95% 

 
These percentages are consistent with the Town’s historical experience but will be reviewed and 
adjusted next fiscal year once sufficient data from EMS-MC becomes available. 
 
Per Town policy, please place on the Town Council agenda approval of contractual adjustments 
totaling $5,690 for the period May 1, 2025 through September 30, 2025. 

MAYOR 
   BRIAN T. FOLEY 
 
VICE MAYOR 
   BOB AUWAERTER 
 
COUNCIL: 
   JAMES ALTIERI 
   JESSE L. “SAM” CARROLL, JR. 
   WILLIAM DANE 

 

TOWN MANAGER 
   JAMES HARPRING, JD 
 
TOWN CLERK 
   JANICE C. RUTAN 
 
TOWN ATTORNEY 
   PETER J. SWEENEY, JR. 
 
 

10



INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL SEPTEMBER 2025

MONTH END SUMMARY

PREPARED FOR INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL

By:

© EMS Management & Consultants Inc. Page 1 of 7 
11



INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL SEPTEMBER 2025

12 MONTH DATE OF SERVICE ANALYSIS

Primary Payor Mix Net Collection Percentages Cash Per Trip

6-12 Month Mature Average 6-12 Month Mature Average 6-12 Month Mature Average

Primary Payor % of Trips Primary Payor Coll % Primary Payor CPT

Medicare 0% Medicare 0% Medicare -$            

Medicare Advantage 0% Medicare Advantage 0% Medicare Advantage -$            

Insurance 0% Insurance 0% Insurance -$            

Medicaid 0% Medicaid 0% Medicaid -$            

Medicaid MCO 0% Medicaid MCO 0% Medicaid MCO -$            

Patient 0% Patient 0% Patient -$            

Facility 0% Facility 0% Facility -$            

Other Govt. Payers 0% Other Govt. Payers 0% Other Govt. Payers -$            

TPL 0% TPL 0% TPL -$            

Overall 6-12m 0% Overall 6-12m -$            

DOS Trip Count Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Balance Due Gross Chg/Trip Net Chg/Trip Cash/Trip Net Coll %

2024-10 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-11 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-12 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-01 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-02 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-03 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-04 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-05 29               16,787.00             3,741.85             13,045.15           -                      9,866.62              -                      -                      3,178.53                578.86                  449.83                     340.23           75.6%

2025-06 23               13,432.40             1,009.65             12,422.75           -                      7,768.48              -                      -                      4,654.27                584.02                  540.12                     337.76           62.5%

2025-07 20               11,218.40             583.80                10,634.60           -                      6,912.97              -                      -                      3,721.63                560.92                  531.73                     345.65           65.0%

2025-08 20               11,348.40             264.93                11,083.47           -                      4,985.90              -                      -                      6,097.57                567.42                  554.17                     249.30           45.0%

2025-09 23               11,493.20             89.92                   11,403.28           -                      1,197.18              -                      -                      10,206.10              499.70                  495.79                     52.05             10.5%

Totals 115             64,279.40             5,690.15             58,589.25           -                      30,731.15            -                      -                      27,858.10              558.95                  509.47                     267.23           52.5%

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2024-10 2024-11 2024-12 2025-01 2025-02 2025-03 2025-04 2025-05 2025-06 2025-07 2025-08

Trip Count Trend - Excluding Current Month

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

2024-10 2024-11 2024-12 2025-01 2025-02 2025-03 2025-04 2025-05 2025-06 2025-07 2025-08 2025-09

Average Loaded Miles

© EMS Management & Consultants Inc. Page 2 of 7    
12



INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL SEPTEMBER 2025

12 MONTH DATE OF SERVICE ANALYSIS BY PRIMARY PAYOR CATEGORY

DOS Trip Count Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Balance Due Gross Chg/Trip Net Chg/Trip Cash/Trip Net Coll %

2024-10 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-11 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-12 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-01 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-02 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-03 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-04 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-05 20               11,432.00             1,431.31             10,000.69           -                      9,276.36              -                      -                      724.33                   571.60                  500.03                     463.82           92.8%

2025-06 14               8,013.20               424.39                7,588.81             -                      7,031.21              -                      -                      557.60                   572.37                  542.06                     502.23           92.7%

2025-07 12               6,741.60               281.11                6,460.49             -                      5,108.46              -                      -                      1,352.03                561.80                  538.37                     425.71           79.1%

2025-08 11               6,302.00               232.16                6,069.84             -                      3,804.73              -                      -                      2,265.11                572.91                  551.80                     345.88           62.7%

2025-09 11               6,475.20               60.04                   6,415.16             -                      889.46                 -                      -                      5,525.70                588.65                  583.20                     80.86             13.9%

Totals 68               38,964.00             2,429.01             36,534.99           -                      26,110.22            -                      -                      10,424.77              573.00                  537.28                     383.97           71.5%

DOS Trip Count Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Balance Due Gross Chg/Trip Net Chg/Trip Cash/Trip Net Coll %

2024-10 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-11 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-12 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-01 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-02 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-03 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-04 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-05 4                 2,490.60               618.94                1,871.66             -                      590.26                 -                      -                      1,281.40                622.65                  467.92                     147.57           31.5%

2025-06 2                 1,117.60               20.46                   1,097.14             -                      290.74                 -                      -                      806.40                   558.80                  548.57                     145.37           26.5%

2025-07 5                 2,678.00               302.69                2,375.31             -                      1,804.51              -                      -                      570.80                   535.60                  475.06                     360.90           76.0%

2025-08 4                 2,240.80               32.77                   2,208.03             -                      634.50                 -                      -                      1,573.53                560.20                  552.01                     158.63           28.7%

2025-09 3                 1,790.40               29.88                   1,760.52             -                      307.72                 -                      -                      1,452.80                596.80                  586.84                     102.57           17.5%

Totals 18               10,317.40             1,004.74             9,312.66             -                      3,627.73              -                      -                      5,684.93                573.19                  517.37                     201.54           39.0%

DOS Trip Count Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Balance Due Gross Chg/Trip Net Chg/Trip Cash/Trip Net Coll %

2024-10 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-11 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-12 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-01 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-02 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-03 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-04 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-05 1                 560.00                  -                      560.00                -                      -                       -                      -                      560.00                   560.00                  560.00                     -                 0.0%

2025-06 2                 1,349.00               -                      1,349.00             -                      446.53                 -                      -                      902.47                   674.50                  674.50                     223.27           33.1%

2025-07 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-08 1                 561.20                  -                      561.20                -                      546.67                 -                      -                      14.53                     561.20                  561.20                     546.67           97.4%

2025-09 1                 504.40                  -                      504.40                -                      -                       -                      -                      504.40                   504.40                  504.40                     -                 0.0%

Totals 5                 2,974.60               -                      2,974.60             -                      993.20                 -                      -                      1,981.40                594.92                  594.92                     198.64           33.4%

MEDICARE

MEDICARE ADVANTAGE

INSURANCE

© EMS Management & Consultants Inc. Page 3 of 7    
13



INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL SEPTEMBER 2025

12 MONTH DATE OF SERVICE ANALYSIS BY PRIMARY PAYOR CATEGORY

DOS Trip Count Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Balance Due Gross Chg/Trip Net Chg/Trip Cash/Trip Net Coll %

2024-10 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-11 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-12 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-01 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-02 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-03 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-04 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-05 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-06 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-07 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-08 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-09 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

Totals -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

DOS Trip Count Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Balance Due Gross Chg/Trip Net Chg/Trip Cash/Trip Net Coll %

2024-10 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-11 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-12 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-01 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-02 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-03 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-04 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-05 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-06 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-07 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-08 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-09 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

Totals -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

DOS Trip Count Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Balance Due Gross Chg/Trip Net Chg/Trip Cash/Trip Net Coll %

2024-10 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-11 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-12 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-01 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-02 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-03 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-04 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-05 4                 2,304.40               1,691.60             612.80                -                      -                       -                      -                      612.80                   576.10                  153.20                     -                 0.0%

2025-06 5                 2,952.60               564.80                2,387.80             -                      -                       -                      -                      2,387.80                590.52                  477.56                     -                 0.0%

2025-07 3                 1,798.80               -                      1,798.80             -                      -                       -                      -                      1,798.80                599.60                  599.60                     -                 0.0%

2025-08 4                 2,244.40               -                      2,244.40             -                      -                       -                      -                      2,244.40                561.10                  561.10                     -                 0.0%

2025-09 8                 2,723.20               -                      2,723.20             -                      -                       -                      -                      2,723.20                340.40                  340.40                     -                 0.0%

Totals 24               12,023.40             2,256.40             9,767.00             -                      -                       -                      -                      9,767.00                500.98                  406.96                     -                 0.0%

MEDICAID

MEDICAID MCO

PATIENT

© EMS Management & Consultants Inc. Page 4 of 7    
14



INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL SEPTEMBER 2025

12 MONTH DATE OF SERVICE ANALYSIS BY PRIMARY PAYOR CATEGORY

DOS Trip Count Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Balance Due Gross Chg/Trip Net Chg/Trip Cash/Trip Net Coll %

2024-10 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-11 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-12 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-01 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-02 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-03 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-04 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-05 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-06 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-07 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-08 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-09 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

Totals -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

DOS Trip Count Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Balance Due Gross Chg/Trip Net Chg/Trip Cash/Trip Net Coll %

2024-10 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-11 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-12 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-01 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-02 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-03 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-04 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-05 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-06 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-07 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-08 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-09 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

Totals -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

DOS Trip Count Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Balance Due Gross Chg/Trip Net Chg/Trip Cash/Trip Net Coll %

2024-10 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-11 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2024-12 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-01 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-02 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-03 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-04 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-05 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-06 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-07 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-08 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

2025-09 -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

Totals -             -                        -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           -                 0.0%

TPL

FACILITY

OTHER GOVT. PAYERS

© EMS Management & Consultants Inc. Page 5 of 7    
15



INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL SEPTEMBER 2025

OUTSTANDING AR AGING BY PAYOR CATEGORY

AGING BY AGING DATE & CURRENT PAYOR

Current Payor Current 31-60 61-90 91-120 121-180 181-365 Over 365 Total 

INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL-MedicareMedicare 4,440.80             -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        4,440.80                  16%

INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL-Medicare AdvantageMedicare Advantage 1,736.00             570.80                -                       556.40                -                      -                         -                        2,863.20                  10%

INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL-InsuranceInsurance 1,290.08             226.53                -                       569.60                -                      -                         -                        2,086.21                  7%

INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL-MedicaidMedicaid -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           0%

INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL-Medicaid MCOMedicaid MCO -                      -                      -                       -                      240.00                -                         -                        240.00                     1%

INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL-PatientPatient 6,848.08             3,460.94             3,110.60              2,791.27             2,017.00             -                         -                        18,227.89                65%

INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL-FacilityFacility -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           0%

INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL-Other Govt. PayersOther Govt. Payers -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           0%

INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL-TPLTPL -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           0%

INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL-OtherOther -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           0%

Total 14,314.96           4,258.27             3,110.60              3,917.27             2,257.00             -                         -                        27,858.10                

51.4% 15.3% 11.2% 14.1% 8.1% 0.0% 0.0%

51.4%

15.3%

11.2%

14.1%

8.1%

0.0% 0.0%

AR Aging Percent

Current

31-60

61-90

91-120

121-180

181-365

Over 365

16%

10%

7%

0%

1%

65%

0%

0% 0%

0%

AR by Payor Category 

Medicare

Medicare Advantage

Insurance

Medicaid

Medicaid MCO

Patient

Facility

Other Govt. Payers

TPL

Other

© EMS Management & Consultants Inc. Page 6 of 7    
16



INDIAN RIVER SHORES PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT FL SEPTEMBER 2025

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE RECONCILIATION REPORT

Month Beginning A/R Gross Charges Contr Allow Net Charges Rev Adj Payments Write Offs Refunds Ending A/R

2024-10 -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           

2024-11 -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           

2024-12 -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           

2025-01 -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           

2025-02 -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           

2025-03 -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           

2025-04 -                      -                      -                      -                       -                      -                      -                         -                        -                           

2025-05 -                      15,509.20           -                      15,509.20            -                      -                      -                         -                        15,509.20                

2025-06 15,509.20           11,833.60           486.06                11,347.54            -                      7,503.52             -                         -                        19,353.22                

2025-07 19,353.22           13,104.20           633.16                12,471.04            -                      6,257.69             -                         -                        25,566.57                

2025-08 25,566.57           12,339.20           3,898.93             8,440.27              -                      5,254.54             -                         -                        28,752.30                

2025-09 28,752.30           11,493.20           672.00                10,821.20            -                      11,715.40           -                         -                        27,858.10                

FY Total -                      64,279.40           5,690.15             58,589.25            -                      30,731.15           -                         -                        27,858.10                

© EMS Management & Consultants Inc. Page 7 of 7    
17



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: November 5, 2025 

SUBJECT: Ambulance Remount 

BACKGROUND: 

After the recently purchased ambulance was irreparably damaged, the Public Safety 
Department reviewed all available options to secure a new ambulance. It has been 
determined that the best course of action is to re-chassis an existing ambulance in lieu of 
purchasing a new unit. This will result in shorter delivery time and significant price reduction. 

The unit under consideration for re-chassis was manufactured by Braun and carries an 
extensive warrantee on the patient compartment module (the box). It is recommended that 
we use a vendor the original manufacturer is recommending for the re-chassis. Cost of the 
proposal is $327,702.00. Current estimated cost for a new unit is approximately $460,000 
with a minimum two-year delivery time. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommend approval of the purchase as outlined in the attachments without 
adherence to formal procurement procedures based on the nature of the apparatus and the 
time frame for delivery.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Equipment Proposal – TEN-8 Fire & Safety
2. Quote from FPG – First Priority Group

18

5d.



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: October 23, 2025 

SUBJECT: Appointment to Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council 

BACKGROUND: 

The Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council appointments are on a three-year cycle in 
which the Town of Indian Shores will return to alternate status in 2026 after a one-year 
hiatus.  The next meeting of the TCRPC is December 5, 2025 and new members and 
alternates will be officially read into the record at that time. The appointed alternate is 
welcome – and encouraged to attend. Council meetings usually are held on the third Friday 
of each month in Stuart. 

In 2024, Councilmember Sam Carroll had served as the full member and Mayor Brian Foley 
served as the alternate to that appointment. In 2023, Vice Mayor Bob Auwaerter served as 
the alternate member with Councilmember Sam Carroll serving as the alternate member to 
the alternate member. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommend Town Council appoint a member and alternate to serve as the Town’s 
representative on the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. None

30

5e.



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: November 4, 2025 

SUBJECT: Resolution 25-17 Leave Policy for Full-Time Employees 

BACKGROUND: 

The Leave Policy for Full-Time Employees was last updated by Resolution 23-07 on June 
26, 2023. Resolution 25-17 provides administrative updates to reflect current practices, 
clarify vacation and sick leave accrual schedules, address use and payout provisions, and 
codify guidance on negative leave balances and personal leave usage. 

The new policy (effective November 20, 2025) supersedes all prior versions. It aligns the 
Town’s internal procedures with the provisions of the collective bargaining agreement 
approved September 23, 2025, and ensures uniform application across departments. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommend Town Council approve Resolution 25-17. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

Resolution 25-17 – Leave Policy for Full-Time Employees (with Exhibit A) 

31

5g.



RESOLUTION NO. 25-17 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER SHORES, 
FLORIDA, AMENDING THE LEAVE POLICY FOR FULL-TIME 
EMPLOYEES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 

WHEREAS, the Town of Indian River Shores seeks to maintain a uniform policy regarding 
vacation, sick, and personal leave benefits for all full-time employees; and  

 
WHEREAS, on September 23, 2025, the Town Council approved the Collective Bargaining 

Agreement between the Town of Indian River Shores and the Indian River Shores Public Safety Officers 
Bargaining Unit; and 

 
WHEREAS, the most recent leave policy was approved on June 26, 2023, and requires 

amendment to reflect current accrual rates, provisions for vacation and sick leave usage, and updated 
administration consistent with the Town’s employment practices; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town now wishes to adopt this Resolution amending the leave policy as 

provided herein. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of Indian River Shores that:  

Section I.   Approval and Adoption of Policy. The Policy, in substantially the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit "A", is approved, subject to such changes as may be acceptable to the Town Manager and the 
Town Attorney as to form and legality. 
 
Section II. Authorization and Implementation. The Town Manager and/or designee are authorized to 
take any and all action necessary to implement the purposes of this Resolution and the Policy. 
 
Section III. Severability. That if any section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Resolution is held invalid 
or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction then said holding shall in no way affect the 
validity of the remaining portions of this Resolution 
 
Section IV.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.  
 
PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the Town Council this 20th day of November 
2025.  
 
 

_________________________________ 
Brian T. Foley 
Mayor 

ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________ 
Janice C. Rutan 
Town Clerk  

32



Town Policy Statement 
 

Subject: Leave Policy 

 
Effective date: November 20, 2025 

 
Purpose: 
This policy describes the methods used by the Town of Indian River Shores to 
provide uniform vacation, sick and personal leave benefits. This policy 
supersedes and replaces prior versions of the leave policy. Where a conflict 
exists between this policy and the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA), the 
CBA shall prevail for employees who are part of the bargaining unit. 

 
Policy: 
A. Vacation Leave 

 
All regular full-time employees earn vacation leave as follows: 
 

Years of 
Service 

30 Hour/Wk 37.5 Hour/Wk 40 Hour/Wk 24 Hour Shift Dept Heads 
Payroll Annual Payroll Annual Payroll Annual Payroll Annual Payroll Annual 

1 – 4 
Years 

2.31 60 2.89 75 3.08 80 5.54 144 4.33 112.5 

5 – 9 
Years 

3.47 90 4.33 112.5 4.62 120 7.39 192 5.77 150 

10 – 14 
Years 

4.62 120 5.77 150 6.16 160 9.24 240 6.35 165 

15 – 19 
Years 

5.08 132 6.35 165 6.77 176 11.08 288 6.93 180 

20 – 24 
Years 

5.54 144 6.93 180 7.39 192 12.93 336 7.50 195 

25 + 
Years 

6.00 156 7.50 195 8.00 208 14.77 384 7.50 195 

• Employees must use vacation hours within one (1) year. On the employee’s 
anniversary date, unless previously approved in writing by the Town Manager, amounts 
in excess of the annual limit will be forfeited. 

• If approved by the Town Manager, negative balances may occur when employees take 
vacation before earning it (“vacation advance”). Any unearned balance will be owed 
back to the Town upon separation. 

• Requests for vacation shall be made with sufficient advance notice for scheduling. 
Granting vacation time is at the discretion of the department head and the Town 
Manager. 

  

33



 
B. Sick Leave 

All regular full-time employees earn sick leave as follows: 
 

Shifts Payroll Accrual Annual 
30 hour/wk 2.77 72 

37.5 hour/wk 3.47 90 
40 hour/wk 3.70 96 

24 Hour Shift 5.54 144 

 
• In the final pay period of each fiscal year, each employee will be given the option to 

cash out any unused sick leave that was accrued during the period of that fiscal year 
only. For any employee electing the payout option, the employee will receive 50% of 
the value of the sick leave at the employee's then hourly rate for every hour of sick 
leave cashed out. Employees who elect not to cash out any sick leave at the end of 
the fiscal year will be permitted to carry over their sick leave balance to the following 
year, although any unused sick leave will not be eligible for payout on separation. 

• A doctor's note may be required whenever there are objective circumstances 
suggesting that an employee may be abusing sick leave. 

• Employees who become ill or are injured during vacation may request that the 
vacation time be converted to sick leave. 

• If approved by the department head or designee, negative balances may occur when 
employees take sick leave before accruing or earning it. 

• An employee may donate his/her accumulated sick leave hours to another employee 
who has a need on an hour for hour basis. 

C. Compensatory Time 

When an employee works hours which qualify for overtime pay, the Town may grant 
compensatory time in lieu of overtime pay at the request of the employee. Such compensatory 
time will accumulate at one and one half (1 ½) for each applicable hour of overtime pay. 

• Compensatory time must be used within ninety (90) days of accrual unless except by the 
approval of department head. 

• Supervisors are responsible for tracking and approving comp time usage within this 
timeframe. 

• Unused comp time beyond 90 days may be paid out. 

 
D. Personal Leave 

 
The Town no longer provides separate personal leave days. Employees may use vacation or 
compensatory time for personal matters, subject to supervisory approval. 

34



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: November 5, 2025 

SUBJECT: Resolution No. 25-18 Amending FY 24/25 Budget 

BACKGROUND: 

Pursuant to Town financial policies, monthly budget reviews are presented to the Town 
Council, with corresponding budget amendments submitted as needed based on those 
reports. 

This amendment includes several adjustments. 

 Increased General Fund revenues resulting from higher than anticipated ad valorem,
state-shared and investment income, as well as the recognition of lease proceeds.

 Reductions in departmental expenditures due to rescheduling of capital projects and
lower-than-expected operating costs across multiple functions.

 Updates to reflect the timing of projects and reallocations among departments.

Additional adjustments are included in the special revenue funds to account for reduced fuel 
tax and impact fee collections, higher building fees revenues, and lower-than-expected 
costs. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended Resolution No. 25-18 be approved by Town Council. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Resolution No. 25-18
2. Exhibit “A”

35

5h.



RESOLUTION NO. 25-18 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER 
SHORES, FLORIDA FOR THE FINAL AMENDMENT TO THE BUDGET FOR 
FISCAL YEAR ENDING 2025 AS PROVIDED; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
WHEREAS, the Town adopted the budget for FY 2024/2025 by Resolution 24-16 on September 

24, 2024; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Town amended the budget for FY 2024/2025 by Resolution 24-19 on November 

14, 2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town amended the budget for FY 2024/2025 by Resolution 25-02 on February 

27, 2025; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town amended the budget for FY 2024/2025 by Resolution 24-07 on May 22, 

2025; and 
 
WHEREAS, an analysis of the revenues and expenditures for the twelve (12) months that ended 

on September 30, 2024, indicated that certain budget adjustments need formal approval by the Town 
Council. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of Indian River Shores that:  

Section I.   The Town Council hereby makes the final amendment for the Fiscal Year beginning October 
1, 2024 and ending September 30, 2025 as identified as Exhibit “A.”  The revised appropriations, if any, 
are set out therein and are hereby made to maintain and carry on the government of the Town of Indian 
River Shores. 
 
Section II.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.  
 
PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the Town Council this 20th day of November 
2025.  
 
 

_________________________________ 
Brian T. Foley 
Mayor 

ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________ 
Janice C. Rutan 
Town Clerk  

36



Department Event Description Amount

Operating Revenues
Receipt for revenues higher than anticpiated including but not limted to: ad valorem 
taxes, state shared revenues, sales of assets, and interest. 110,000$                       

Capital Revenues

Receipt of highter state reveues than anticipated, capital grant revenue.  Additionally, 
the Town entered into long-term software and capital lease arrangements that required 
the recognition of proceeds. 100,000                          

210,000                      

Department Significant Event Description Amount

Town Council

While the cost of for the AV system maintenance was higher than expected several 
items were less than expected including special events, software, travel expense, etc. 
to offest this cost. (4,000)                              

Town Manager
There was a mid-year salary adjustment for the promotion of the Facilities Coordinator 
and employees utilized the sick leave buyout for the year. 3,000                               

Finance

One employee retired at the end of the fiscal year which was not included in the original 
budget.  Payout included the annual sick leave buyout, vacation and comp time 
payouts. (7,000)                              

Town Clerk Several items were less than expected (ie software, did not attend a conference, etc.) (5,000)                              

Postal Center
There was a change in insurance enrollements and employee utilized the sick leave 
buyout for the year.  These were offset by a reduced costs in supplies/inventory. (3,000)                              

Public Works

One project for the Town had been postponed with most of the expenditures expected 
to occur in the next fiscal year. Additionally, late in the fiscal year there was a change in 
staffing which reduced the over personel costs. Finally,  a cushion has been provided 
($10,000) for any unbilled costs. (60,000)                           

Public Safety

Throughout the year several positions were covered by per diems prior to being filled by 
a full-time position. Moreover, several employees have reached the 300-hour overtime 
limit for pension qualifications. Additionally, certain travel and training courses that had 
been budgeted were not used.  Further, several peices of equipment were on backorder 
and will be expensed in fiscal year 2026.  Finally, a cushion has been provided 
($50,000) for any unbilled costs (including amounts related to the worker's comp audit 
that is completed each year). (190,000)                        

General Government Several items were slightly than expected (ie insurance costs, postage, etc.) (20,000)                           

Information Technology

The remodeling of the IT room and wiring was postponed to early in the next fiscal year.  
Additionally, the software project for records management/workflow was delaying into 
fiscal year 2026. (65,000)                           

Town Attorney
The Town did not need all of the funds related to the litigation attorney. A cushion has 
been provided ($50,000) for any unbilled costs. (55,000)                           

Planning Board/Code Enfocement
A portion of the Town's code enforcement officer salary is allocated to the building 
department based on actual hours worked. (25,000)                           

Town Engineer
A few engineering projects were not completed prior to fiscal year end (Comp plan, 
stormwater atlas, etc) but are expected to be complete in the next fiscal year. (25,000)                           

Water Transportation
Since the ALA agreement was not completed until late in the year, there were no 
expenditures. (50,000)                           

Cemetery
The Town now coordinates burials with its contractor.  We are paid and the money is 
then passed through to the contractor. 5,000                               

Community Center Several items were less than expected (ie repair and maintenance, etc.) (5,000)                              

Capital expenditures

Several projects budgeted for the current fiscal year were not be completed within the 
year. This includes the Public Safety Building remodel and the roadway project at 
Beachcomber and Pebble Lane.  A cushion has been provided ($50,000) for any 
unbilled costs. (1,300,000)                    

(1,806,000)                 

2,016,000$               

Revenues

Decrease In General Fund Expenditures

GENERAL FUND

Increase In General Fund Revenues

EXHIBIT "A" OF RESOLUTION 25-18
SUMMARY OF BUDGET CHANGES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2025

Expenditures

Net Change In General Fund Budget

Prepared by H. Christmas
October 23, 2025 1 of 237



 

EXHIBIT "A" OF RESOLUTION 25-18
SUMMARY OF BUDGET CHANGES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2025

Department Event Description Amount
State Revenues The Town received less in gas tax than originally expected (6,000)                              
Impact Fees New Contruction is down therefore impact fees were less than expected (1,200)                              

(7,200)                          

Department Event Description Amount

Transportation Several items were less than expected (ie light repairs, striping, pothole repairs, etc.) (15,000)                           
(15,000)                       

7,800$                         

Department Event Description Amount
Impact Fees Amount collected during the year. 600$                                

600                                

Department Event Description Amount

-                                 
600$                             

Department Event Description Amount

Revenue
Revenues came in much higher than expected due to increased credit card usage fees 
and slightly higher activity. 39,000$                          

39,000                         

Department Event Description Amount

Public Safety
Costs include increased the plan reviews in house and the cost of the code 
enforcement officers performing inspections.  (15,000)                           

General Admin Allocated overhead came in less than expected. (2,000)                              
Capital Expenditures New vehicle came in less than expected (6,000)                              

(23,000)                       
62,000$                      

Road & Offsite Drainage Fund
Revenues

Expenditures

Decrease In Fund Revenues

Decrease In Fund Expenditures
Net Change In Fund Budget

Planning, Zoning & Building Fund
Revenues

Increase In Fund Revenues

Bikepath and Pedestrian Walkway Fund
Revenues

Increase In Fund Revenues

Expenditures

Increase In Fund Expenditures
Net Change In Fund Budget

Expenditures

Decrease In Fund Expenditures
Net Change In Fund Budget

Prepared by H. Christmas
October 23, 2025 2 of 238



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: November 6, 2025 

SUBJECT: Resolution No. 25-19 Amending FY 25/26 Budget 

BACKGROUND: 

Pursuant to the Town’s financial policies, monthly budget reviews are presented to the Town 
Council, with corresponding budget amendments submitted as needed based on those 
reports. 

This amendment primarily allocates funding for projects approved or initiated in the prior 
fiscal year that were not completed by September 30, 2025. Adjustments include 
carryforwards for capital projects such as the Pebble Lane and Beachcomber Lane roadway 
improvements, Public Safety facility renovation, and various IT, engineering, and public 
works initiatives. The amendment also provides for changes to benefit enrollments, software 
to support short-term vacation rental enforcement and an estimate towards the cost of the 
Town Hall roof and Council Chamber HVAC replacement.  

The total amendment reallocates $1,248,410 from General Fund reserves to maintain 
project continuity and ensure accurate financial reporting for FY 2025-2026. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution No. 25-19. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Resolution No. 25-19
2. Exhibit “A”

39

5i.



RESOLUTION NO. 25-19 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER 
SHORES, FLORIDA FOR THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE BUDGET FOR 
FISCAL YEAR ENDING 2026 AS PROVIDED; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
WHEREAS, the Town adopted the budget for FY 2025 – 2026 by Resolution 25-12 on 

September 23, 2025; and  
 
WHEREAS, an analysis of the revenues and expenditures for the month that ended on October 

31, 2025 indicated that certain budget adjustments need formal approval by the Town Council. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of Indian River Shores that:  

Section I.   The Town Council hereby makes the final amendment for the Fiscal Year beginning October 
1, 2025 and ending September 30, 2026 as identified as Exhibit “A.”  The revised appropriations, if any, 
are set out therein and are hereby made to maintain and carry on government functions of the Town of 
Indian River Shores. 
 
Section II.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.  
 
PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the Town Council this 20th day of November 
2025.  
 
 

_________________________________ 
Brian T. Foley 
Mayor 

ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________ 
Janice C. Rutan 
Town Clerk  

40



Department Event Description Amount
Insurance proceeds Anticipated insurance proceeds for ambulance and related equipment 416,000$                       

416,000                         

Department Event Description Amount
Postal Center There was a change in benefit enrollment for this department 28,000                            
Public Works There was a change in benefit enrollment for this department (25,000)                           

Public Works
Allocation of prior year projects not completed/expended (Dune Crossover Access
Gate & Lighting projects) 50,000                            

Information Technology
Allocation of prior year projects not completed/expended (IT Server room
renovation & workflow/records management software) 63,230                            

Information Technology
Cost of the development of the new website as approved by Town Council on
September 23, 2025 29,150                            

Engineering
Allocation of prior year projects not completed/expended (comp plan,
stormwater atlas, BMAP, NPDES/MS4 compliance) 53,030                            

Planning Board/Code Enforcement
Software service to assist in the location and reporting of short-term rentals to the
Town 5,000                              

Public Safety
Allocation of prior year equipment not ordered but not received prior to end of
the fiscal year (Aeds/Bunk Gear/Other Fire Equipment) 25,000                            

Capital expenditures - Cemetery Allocation of prior year project not completed/expended (landscape) 25,000                            

Capital expenditures - Transportation
Allocation of prior year projects not completed/expended (Pebble Lane and
Beachcomber) 840,000                          

Capital expenditures - Public Safety
Allocation of prior year project not completed/expended (Public Safety
Renovation) 155,000                          

Capital expenditures - General Admin
Town Council HVAC & copula replacement and Town Hall Roof Replacement -
estimate using infrastructure replacement reserves 200,000                          

Capital expenditures - Public Safety Purchase of replacement ambulance and equipment using insurance proceeds 416,000                          
1,864,410                      

(1,448,410)$                  

Revenues

Net Increase In General Fund Expenditures

GENERAL FUND

Net Increase In General Fund Revenues

EXHIBIT "A" OF RESOLUTION 24-19
SUMMARY OF BUDGET CHANGES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2026

Expenditures

Net Change In General Fund Reserves

Prepared by H. Christmas
October 23, 2025 1 of 141



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: October 23, 2025 

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 584 – Amendment to Chapter 165.16 
Substantial Improvements – Second Reading 

BACKGROUND: 

Ordinance No. 584 

As amended by SB 180 (2025), section 163.31795, Florida Statutes prohibit certain local 
governments from adopting ordinances for substantial improvements or repairs to structures 
which include cumulative substantial improvement periods. The one-year period for 
considering substantial improvement will be deleted from Section 165.16, Code of 
Ordinances. At the September 23, 2025, Town Council Meeting, Councilmember Altieri 
asked for the Ordinance to be tabled for further review and discussion of the cumulative 
substantial improvement period.  

At the October 23, 2025 meeting, Council voted to approve Ordinance No. 584 on First 
Reading.  

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommend approval of Ordinance No. 584 on Second Reading 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Ordinance No. 584

42

8a.



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 584 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER SHORES, FLORIDA, A 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, AMENDING SECTION 165.16 – BUILDING AND 
STRUCTURES (C) FLORIDA BUILDING CODE, TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS (1);  
PROVIDING FOR A BUSINESS IMPACT ESTIMATE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 
SCRIVENOR’S ERRORS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Senate Bill 180 was enacted into law during the 2025 Legislative Session, and; 

WHEREAS, Senate Bill 180 prohibits certain local governments from adopting Ordinances 
for substantial improvements or repairs to structures which include cumulative substantial 
improvement periods; and 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF INDIAN 
RIVER SHORES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

Section 1.  Revisions. 

Section 165.16 - Buildings and Structures (C) Florida Building Code, Technical Amendments. (1) 
Substantial improvement shall mean the combination of repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, 
alteration, addition or other improvement of a building or structure taking place during a one-year 
period, the cost of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the building or structure 
before the improvement or repair is started. 

Section 2.  Business Impact Statement. 

Pursuant to Section 166.041(4), Florida Statutes, the Town is required to prepare a business impact 
estimate for certain proposed ordinances.  This proposed Ordinance is exempt from the requirement 
of a business impact estimate pursuant to Section 166.041(4)(c)1, as the ordinance is required for 
compliance with Section 163.31795(2), Florida Statutes.  

Section 3.  Severability.  

In the event that any portion of this Ordinance is determined to be invalid, illegal, or unconstitutional 
by a court of competent jurisdiction, such a decision shall in no manner affect the remaining portions 
of sections of this Ordinance which shall remain in full force and effect.    

Section 4. Effectivity.   

This Ordinance shall take effect as provided by state law within ten (10) days of adoption. 

1st Reading:  October 23, 2025 

Published:  November 7, 2025 

2nd Reading:  November 20, 2025 

 

43



2 
 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Ordinance was passed by the Town Council of the Town 
of Indian River Shores, Florida, on this ______ day of November, 2025. 

 
        _______________________________ 
         Brian T. Foley, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________       
Janice C. Rutan, Town Clerk 
 

 

44



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: October 31, 2025 

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 585 – Minor Modification of Approved Site Plans 

BACKGROUND: 

Section 168.01(F), Code of Ordinances provides a process to approve minor modifications 
to approved site plans. The purpose of the ordinance is to streamline the process of 
approval of minor modifications to existing site plans. The language of the ordinance 
requires amendment for clarification and efficiency of the process of approval of minor 
changes. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommend Council approval of Ordinance No. 585. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Ordinance No. 585
2. Section 168.01(F), Code of Ordinances

45

8b.



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 585 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER SHORES, FLORIDA, A 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, AMENDING SECTION 168.01 – SITE PLAN 
DEVELOPMENT PROCESS (F) MINOR MODIFICATION OF APPROVED SITE PLANS 
(1 – 6); PROVIDING FOR A BUSINESS IMPACT ESTIMATE; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; 
PROVIDING FOR SCRIVENOR’S ERRORS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

WHEREAS, Section 168.01. Site Plan Development Process (F) Minor Modification of 
Approved Site Plans, provides a process to approve minor modifications to existing site plans; and 

WHEREAS, the current language of Section 168.01(F) places an undue time delay and 
hardship on the applicant and requires clarification to ensure efficiency; and  

WHEREAS, amending the Ordinance to allow authorization of the minor modification of an 
approved site plan by the Town Building Official with review and approval by the Town Manager and 
final report to the Town Council will provide the required oversight and compliance with the Florida 
Building Code and Ordinances of the Town of Indian River Shores. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF INDIAN 
RIVER SHORES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

Section 1.  Revisions. 

Section 168.01. Site Plan Development Process (F) Minor Modification of Approved Site Plan is 
hereby amended as follows:  

F) Minor modification of approved site plan. Minor changes as listed below require authorization by 
the Town Manger or Designee Building Official with review and approval by the Planning, Zoning, and 
Variance Board Town Manager, after review and approval of the Town Building Official. If approved as 
a minor change, the site plan shall not be required to be returned to approval by the Planning, Zoning 
and Variance Board. or Town Council for reapproval. The Town Manager shall report each change so 
approved to the Planning, Zoning and Variance Board for the record Town Council at the next 
scheduled meeting. Minor changes to the site plan include the following: 

(1) Building details. The addition of awnings, canopies or ornamental structures; and modifications, 
adjustments, and additions to in stairways or elevations of decks, porches, pools, terraces, and 
fencing., signage, lighting details, and site walls. 

(2) Parking lots. Parking lot reconfiguration or the addition of parking spaces not to exceed 25 
percent, including fractions thereof, of the total number of existing parking spaces or 20 spaces, 
whichever is the lesser amount. 

(3) Building additions. Attached or detached additions to buildings which do not increase the floor 
area in excess of ten percent of the ground floor area of the principal structure or 500 square feet, 
whichever is the lesser amount. 

46



2 
 

(4) Infrastructure. Changes of a technical engineering nature to the water, sewer, drainage or street 
designs. 

(5) Landscaping. Any upgrading of the original landscape plan. 

(6) Site features and structures.  Installation of fences, gates, gazebos or small accessory structures.  
Adding bike racks, benches, or decorative walls.  Adding signage consistent with approved sign 
ordinance.  

Section 2.  Business Impact Statement. 

Pursuant to Section 166.041(4), Florida Statutes, the Town is required to prepare a business impact 
estimate for certain proposed ordinances.  This proposed Ordinance is exempt from the requirement 
of a business impact estimate pursuant to Section 166.041(4)(c)1, as the ordinance is Part II of 
Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relating to growth policy, county and municipal planning, and land 
development regulation, including zoning, development orders, development agreements and 
development permits. 

 

Section 3.  Severability.  

In the event that any portion of this Ordinance is determined to be invalid, illegal, or unconstitutional 
by a court of competent jurisdiction, such a decision shall in no manner affect the remaining portions 
of sections of this Ordinance which shall remain in full force and effect.    

Section 4. Effectivity.   

This Ordinance shall take effect as provided by state law within ten (10) days of adoption. 

1st Reading:  November 20, 2025 

Published:  November 30, 2025 

2nd Reading:  December 11, 2025 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Ordinance was passed by the Town Council of the Town 
of Indian River Shores, Florida, on this ______ day of______________,  2025. 

 
        _______________________________ 
         Brian T. Foley, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________       
Janice C. Rutan, Town Clerk 
 

 

47



168.01  

(F) Minor modification of approved site plan. Minor changes as listed below require 
authorization by the Town Manger or Designee Building Official with review and approval by 
the Planning, Zoning, and Variance Board Town Manager, after review and approval of the 
Town Building Official. If approved as a minor change, the site plan shall not be required to 
be returned to approval by the Planning, Zoning and Variance Board. or Town Council for 
reapproval. The Town Manager shall report each change so approved to the Planning, Zoning 
and Variance Board for the record Town Council at the next scheduled meeting. Minor 
changes to the site plan include the following: 

(1) Building details. The addition of awnings, canopies or ornamental structures; and 
modifications, adjustments, and additions to in stairways or elevations of decks, porches, 
pools, terraces, and fencing., signage, lighting details, and site walls. 

(2) Parking lots. Parking lot reconfiguration or the addition of parking spaces not to exceed 
25 percent, including fractions thereof, of the total number of existing parking spaces or 20 
spaces, whichever is the lesser amount. 

(3) Building additions. Attached or detached additions to buildings which do not increase the 
floor area in excess of ten percent of the ground floor area of the principal structure or 500 
square feet, whichever is the lesser amount. 

(4) Infrastructure. Changes of a technical engineering nature to the water, sewer, drainage or 
street designs. 

(5) Landscaping. Any upgrading of the original landscape plan. 

(6) Site features and structures.  Installation of fences, gates, gazebos or small accessory 
structures.  Adding bike racks, benches, or decorative walls.  Adding signage consistent with 
approved sign ordinance.  

 

48



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: November 7, 2025 

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 586 – Certified Recovery Residences 

BACKGROUND: 

In 2025, the Florida Legislature enacted SB 954, amending § 397.487(15), Florida Statutes, 
to require all municipalities to adopt procedures for the review and approval of Certified 
Recovery Residences (CRR). Local governments must establish a written process allowing 
applicants to request reasonable accommodations from any land-use regulation that would 
otherwise prohibit the establishment of a certified recovery residence. 

Ordinance No. 586 establishes the Town’s review process for Certified Recovery 
Residences. The ordinance details application requirements, review timelines, and final 
determination standards consistent with state and federal law. An associated application 
form is included for Building Department implementation. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Ordinance No. 586 for First Reading, establishing procedures for Certified 
Recovery Residences as required by § 397.487(15), Florida Statutes, and authorizing 
codification. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Ordinance No. 586 – Certified Recovery Residences
2. Certified Recovery Residence Reasonable Accommodation Application Form

49

8c.



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 586 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER SHORES, FLORIDA, A 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, AMENDING THE TOWN CODE OF ORDINANCES AT 
CHAPTER 161, SECTION 161.14 – SUPPLEMENTAL REGULATIONS TO INCLUDE 
REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION REQUESTS IN HOUSING, INCLUDING SUCH 
REQUESTS FROM CERTIFIED RECOVERY RESIDENCES AS REQUIRED BY FLORIDA 
STATUTE SECTION 397.487; PROVIDING THAT EACH AND EVERY OTHER SECTION 
AND SUBSECTION OF CHAPTER 161 – SUPPLEMENTAL REGULATIONS, ZONING 
SHALL REMAIN IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT AS PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED;   
PROVIDING FOR A BUSINESS IMPACT ESTIMATE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 
SCRIVENOR’S ERRORS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Florida Legislature passed SB 954 during the 2025 legislative session which 
requires all municipalities to adopt by January 1st, 2026, an ordinance establishing procedures for 
the review and approval of certified recovery residences and to establish specific reasonable 
accommodation procedures associated therewith; and   

WHEREAS, the Town Council desires to comply with the aforesaid legislative mandate by 
amending its current Code of Ordinances to comply with the new state law; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council determines the proposed revisions as set forth herein shall 
safeguard the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the Town of Indian River Shores. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF INDIAN 
RIVER SHORES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

Section 1.  Creation.  Chapter 161 – Supplemental Regulations of the Code of Ordinances of the 
Town of Indian River Shores is hereby created at Section 161.14 which shall hereafter read as follows: 

I. Reasonable accommodation process in housing. 
(1) Purpose and intent. The purpose of this section is to establish procedures for the request 

of a reasonable accommodation for certified recovery residences from the Town's land 
development regulations and related rules, policies, practices and procedures, for 
persons with disabilities as provided by Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (FHA), the 
Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988 (FHAA), the Florida Fair Housing Act (§§ 760.20-
760.37), Florida Statutes, and Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. 
Section 12131. et seq.) (ADA), as these laws may be amended from time to time. Any 
person who is disabled, or qualifying entities, may request a reasonable 
accommodation, pursuant to the procedures set out in this section. 
 

(2) Definitions. For the purposes of this section, the following terms, phrases, words, and 
their derivations shall have the meaning given herein: 
 
“Certified Recovery Residence” means a recovery residence that holds a valid certificate 
of compliance and is actively managed by a certified recovery residence administrator as 

50



2 
 

defined under section 397.311 Florida Statutes as that state law may be amended from 
time to time. 

 
(3) Applicability. An applicant shall be required to apply for all applicable development 

review processes available in the Town's Zoning Code prior to filing a request for 
reasonable accommodation, unless compliance with available development review 
processes deprive the applicant, or persons with disabilities served by the applicant, of 
an equal opportunity to use and enjoy housing. 

 
(4) Notice to the public of availability of accommodation. The Town shall endeavor to provide 

notice to the public, advising that qualifying individuals or qualifying entities may request 
reasonable accommodation. 

 
(5) Application procedures. The request for reasonable accommodation may be submitted 

on application forms provided by the Town. All requests for reasonable accommodation 
shall be submitted to the Town Clerk’s office. Upon receipt of an application for 
reasonable accommodation the Town Clerk shall date stamp the application with the 
date received. 

a. Application contents. The reasonable accommodation request shall at a 
minimum provide the following information: 
1. The legal name(s) of all persons for whom a reasonable accommodation is 

sought, and if a qualifying entity, the legal name(s) of all persons for whom It 
has been authorized to submit an application.   

2. Name and address of the applicant.  
3. Address and parcel control number of the location at which the reasonable 

accommodation is requested, if different from the address of the applicant.   
4. The type of reasonable accommodation being requested, and an explanation 

of why it is necessary in order for persons with qualifying disabilities to live at 
the location. 

5. A description of the Town ordinance, rule, policy, practice or procedure, from 
which the Applicant seeks a reasonable accommodation.  

6. If the disability is not known or readily apparent, information and/or 
documentation that (1) certifies the person’s disability status under the FHA 
and/or ADA; (2) described the needed accommodation; and (3) shows the 
relationship between the person’s disability and the need for the requested 
accommodation. The Town is not seeking information relating to the nature 
and severity of the person’s specific disability. 

7. In the case of a certified recovery residence, a copy of the Certified Recovery 
Residence Certificate of Compliance issued by a credentialing entity 
pursuant to Sec. 397.311, Florida Statutes as that law may be amended from 
time to time. 
 

(6) Review by Town Manager. All applications for reasonable accommodation shall be 
submitted to the Town Clerk’s office. As soon as practicable after receipt, the Town Clerk 

51



3 
 

shall forward all requests to the Town Manager for review. The Town Manager shall issue 
a written notice of determination to the applicant within sixty (60) days from the date the 
application is received by the Town Clerk’s Office. If needed to reach a determination on 
the request for reasonable accommodation, the Town Manager may, within the first thirty 
(30) days of receipt of the application, issue a written request for additional information 
to the applicant, specifying in sufficient detail what information is required. The applicant 
shall then have thirty (30) days after the date of the written request for additional 
information to provide said information. In the event a written request for additional 
information is made, the sixty (60) day period to issue a written notice of determination 
shall no longer be applicable, and the Town Manager shall issue a written notice of 
determination within sixty (60) days after receipt of the additional information. If the 
Applicant fails to provide the requested additional information and/or fails to request an 
extension of time to provide said information within thirty (30) days after the date of the 
request for additional information, then the request for reasonable accommodation shall 
be deemed withdrawn and no further action by the Town shall be required. If a final 
written determination is not issued within sixty (60) days after receipt of a completed 
application, the request is deemed approved unless the parties agree in writing to a 
reasonable extension of time. The applicant may renew their request for reasonable 
accommodation at any time. The applicant may request additional time to respond either 
in writing or verbally to the Town Clerk’s Office. The Town shall not unreasonably withhold 
consent to an applicant’s request for additional time to respond.   
 

(7) Findings for Reasonable Accommodation. In determining whether the reasonable 
accommodation request shall be granted or denied, the applicant shall be required to 
establish that:   

a. They are protected under the FHA or ADA, as defined in the FHA or ADA. Although 
the definition of disability and/or handicap is subject to judicial interpretation, for 
purposes of this policy, a person with a disability is defined as having: 
1. a physical or mental impairment which substantially limits one or more major 

life activities; 
2. a record of having such impairment; or 
3. that they are regarded as having such impairment. 

b. The proposed reasonable accommodation being sought is reasonable and 
necessary to afford the person with the disability equal opportunity to use and 
enjoy housing. An accommodation is not reasonable if it imposes undue financial 
and administrative burdens on the Town; or requires a fundamental alteration to 
the Town’s zoning scheme. 

 
The foregoing, as interpreted by the Courts, shall be the basis for a decision upon a 
reasonable accommodation request. 
 

(8) Notice of Determination. The Town Manager shall issue a written notice of determination 
to the applicant in accordance with section (7) above, which shall: 

a. Grant the accommodation request in full without conditions; or 

52



4 
 

b. Impose conditions upon the portion of the request that was granted; or 
c. Deny the request, stating with specificity the objective, evidence-based reasons 

for denial and identifying any deficiencies or actions necessary for 
reconsideration. 
 

All written determinations shall give notice of the right to appeal. The notice of 
determination shall be sent to the applicant (i.e. the person with a disability or his/her 
authorized agent, attorney or representative) by certified mail, return receipt requested 
at the address listed by the Applicant on the application form, or as otherwise provided 
to the Town in writing. 
 

(9) Appeal from Notice of Determination by Town Manager. Within forty-five (45) days after 
the Town Manager has rendered a decision on a reasonable accommodation request, the 
applicant may appeal the decision. This timeframe shall be based upon the date that the 
letter is mailed to the requesting party. All appeals shall include a statement containing 
sufficient detail of the grounds for the appeal. Appeals shall be made to the Town Clerk’s 
Office. The appeal shall be heard by the Special Magistrate for Code Enforcement 
matters. The Special Magistrate shall conduct a quasi-judicial public hearing on the 
appeal as soon as reasonably practicable, but in no event later than sixty (60) days after 
an appeal has been filed unless the applicant agrees in writing to an extension of the 
hearing date. The Special Magistrate shall not be required to render a decision on the 
request at the public hearing but shall render a determination no later than thirty (30) days 
after the conclusion of the public hearing. Such public hearing shall be de novo. 
 
Once a public hearing date has been coordinated with the applicant the Town shall, at 
least ten (10) days prior to the hearing, post a notice of hearing on the Town’s public notice 
bulletin board and on its website, and shall maintain copies available for review in the 
Town Clerk’s office. The notice shall contain a brief description of the request for 
reasonable accommodation, the property to which the request is applicable, and the 
time and place of the Special Magistrate hearing on the request. The notice shall not 
contain any information relating to the applicant’s specific disability or other medical 
information. 
 
The Special Magistrate’s decision on the appeal shall be in writing and be based on the 
criteria listed in Section (7) above. The Special Magistrate’s decision may: 

(1) Grant the reasonable accommodation request in full, with no conditions.  
(2) Impose conditions upon the portion of the request that was granted.  
(3) Deny the request, stating with specificity the objective, evidence-based reasons 

for denial and identifying any deficiencies or actions necessary for 
reconsideration. 

 
The Special Magistrate’s decision shall give notice of the right to appeal. The written 
decision of the Special Magistrate shall be sent to the applicant by certified mail, return 

53



5 
 

receipt requested. The written decision shall be sent to the applicant at the address listed 
by the applicant on the application form, or as otherwise provided to the Town in writing. 
 

(10) Stay of enforcement. While an application for reasonable accommodation, or appeal of 
a determination of same, is pending before the Town, the Town will not enforce the 
subject land development regulation, or related rules, policies, practices or procedures, 
against the applicant. 
 

(11) Fee. There shall be no fee imposed by the Town for a request for reasonable 
accommodation under this section or an appeal of a determination on such request, and 
the Town shall have no obligation to pay the applicants, or an appealing party as 
applicable, attorneys' fees or costs in connection with the request, or an appeal. 

 
(12) Applicants Representative(s). An applicant may be represented at all stages of the 

reasonable accommodation process by a person designated by the applicant as their 
authorized agent (e.g., family member, attorney, or other representative). If an authorized 
agent, attorney, or other representative represents a person, or, if applicable, a qualifying 
entity, a written authorization designating such authorized agent, attorney or 
representative shall be submitted to the Town, or an in-person meeting between the Town 
and the applicant shall confirm the applicant’s authorized agent, attorney or 
representative. The Town will not accept authorizations outside of those made in writing 
or in-person. Authorization forms shall be made available by request via the Town Clerk’s 
Office. 

 
(13) Town Assistance. The Town shall provide assistance as required by the FHA, the ADA, or 

other applicable law in connection with a person with disability’s request for reasonable 
accommodation to ensure the process is accessible. 

 
(14) Confidential Information. Upon submittal of any medical information or records, 

including but not limited to condition, diagnosis, or history related to persons with 
disabilities, an applicant may request that the Town, to the extent allowed by law, treat 
the information or records as confidential. In such case, the Town shall endeavor to keep 
the applicant’s medical information confidential to the extent permitted by federal and 
state laws, including but not limited to the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and Chapter 119, Florida Statutes (the Florida Public 
Records Law). The Town shall have no obligation to defend against any action seeking to 
compel the production of public records, or to incur any legal or other expenses in 
connection therewith, and shall produce the records to the extent the Town determines 
the records are not exempt from the Public Records Act, or to comply with any judicial or 
administrative order without prior notice to the Applicant. The Town, however, shall 
endeavor to provide notice to the person with disabilities, or their representative, of any 
request received by the Town for disclosure of the medical information or documentation 
which the applicant has previously requested be treated as confidential by the Town. 

 

54



6 
 

(15) Revocation of Reasonable Accommodation. A reasonable accommodation to operate 
within the Town of Indian River Shores may be immediately revoked via written notice in 
the event of any of the following:  

a. Violation of any condition of approval of reasonable accommodation.   
b. Lapse, revocation, or failure to obtain and maintain any certification or licensure 

required under this ordinance if not reinstated within 180 days of expiration. 
 
In either instance the Town Manager shall issue written notice of the revocation to the 
applicant via certified mail return receipt requested at the address listed by the Applicant 
on the application form, or as otherwise provided to the Town in writing. Applicant shall 
have the right to appeal the revocation decision of the Town Manager to the Town’s 
Special Magistrate following the same appeal procedure outlined in section (9). 
 
Section 2.  

Each and every other section and subsection of Chapter 161 Supplemental Regulations shall remain 
in full force and effect as previously adopted. 

Section 3.  Conflict. 

All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict herewith be and the same are hereby repealed. 

Section 4.  Jurisdiction.   

Should any Section or provision of this Ordinance or any portion thereof, any paragraph, sentence or 
word be declared by a Court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such decision shall not affect 
the validity of the remainder of this Ordinance. 

Section 5.  Authority. 

Specific authority is hereby granted to codify this Ordinance. 

Section 6.  Business Impact Statement.  

Pursuant to Section 166.041(4), Florida Statutes, the Town is required to prepare a business impact 
estimate for certain proposed ordinances.  This proposed Ordinance is exempt from the requirement 
of a business impact estimate pursuant to Section 166.041(4)(c)1, as the ordinance is required for 
compliance with Section 397.487, Florida Statutes.  

Section 7.  Severability.  

In the event that any portion of this Ordinance is determined to be invalid, illegal, or unconstitutional 
by a court of competent jurisdiction, such a decision shall in no manner affect the remaining portions 
of sections of this Ordinance which shall remain in full force and effect.    

 

Section 8. Effective Date.   

This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon passage. 

55



7 
 

1st Reading:  November 20, 2025 

Published:  _____________, 2025 

2nd Reading:  December , 2025 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Ordinance was passed by the Town Council of the Town 
of Indian River Shores, Florida, on this ______ day of December, 2025. 

161 
        _______________________________ 
         Brian T. Foley, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________       
Janice C. Rutan, Town Clerk 
 

 

56



 
                    

6001 Highway A1A, Indian River Shores, FL  32963 
(772) 231-1771 

 
 
Inspector Jacob Maikranz 
Building Department 
Phone: 772-231-1771 
Emal: code@irshores.com  
 

CERTIFIED RECOVERY RESIDENCE 
REASONABLE ACCOMODATION REQUEST PROCESS 

 
 
Overview 
A Certified Recovery Residence is a dwelling intended to provide a supportive, alcohol- and drug-free 
environment for people in recovery from substance use disorders. This form establishes the process 
of requesting reasonable accommodation for establishment of a Certified Recovery Residence and 
ensures compliance with federal fair housing and disability law.  
 
Statutory Reference 
This process is established pursuant to § 397.487(15), F.S. (2025), the Fair Housing Amendments Act 
of 1988 (42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.), and Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 
12131 et seq.). 
 
If you have any questions, please contact Inspector Jacob Maikranz, Building Department at 
code@irshores.com or 772-231-1771. 
 
 
 
 

57

mailto:code@irshores.com
mailto:code@irshores.com


1 
 

 
 

6001 Highway A1A, Indian River Shores, FL  32963 
(772) 231-1771 

 
CERTIFIED RECOVERY RESIDENCE  

REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION REQUEST FORM 
 

If you have any questions about this form, please contact Inspector Jacob Maikranz, Building 
Department at code@irshores.com or 772-231-1771. 

 
DATE: _____________________ 

1. Applicant Information 
Applicant Name: _________________________________________________ 
Organization (if applicable): ______________________________________ 
Mailing Address: _________________________________________________ 
City: ___________________ State: ______ ZIP: __________ 
Phone: _________________________ Email: _________________________ 
Applicant is Property Owner 
Authorized Agent for Owner 
If authorized agent, provide the following: 
Property Owner Name: ___________________________________________ 
Mailing Address: ________________________________________________ 
Phone: _________________________ Email: _________________________ 

2. Property Information 
Property Address: ________________________________________________ 
Parcel Identification Number: ______________________________________ 
Zoning District: _________________________________________________ 

3. Description of Requested Accommodation 
Describe the accommodation requested and identify the specific land-use regulation, ordinance, or 
policy from which relief is sought: 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________ 

58

mailto:code@irshores.com


2 
 

Explain why this accommodation is necessary consistent with Florida Statutes. 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________ 

4. Attachments (Required) 
• Proof of property ownership or authorization letter from owner. 
• Site plan, sketch, or aerial photo identifying the subject property. 
• Description of the proposed Certified Recovery Residence (purpose, occupancy, and 

management summary). 
• Any documentation supporting the requested accommodation or identifying relevant 

hardship. 

5. Applicant Acknowledgement 
I certify that the information provided is true and complete to the best of my knowledge. I 
understand that this request will be reviewed in accordance with § 397.487(15), Florida Statutes, the 
Fair Housing Amendments Act, and the Americans with Disabilities Act. 
Applicant Signature: __________________________________________  Date: ______________ 
Printed Name: _______________________________________________ 
Property Owner Signature (if different): ___________________________ Date: ______________ 
 
 

6. For Office Use Only 
Date Application Received (Stamped): __________________________ 
Date Application Deemed Complete: ____________________________ 
Additional Information Requested:  Yes  No 
Date Requested: _________________ 
Applicant Response Received: _________________________________ 
Final Written Determination (issued within 60 days of completed application): 
Approved _________ Approved with Conditions __________  Denied  __________ 
Date of Determination: ____________________ Reviewed By: ____________________ 
Title: ______________________________________ 
If Denied, Reason for Denial (attach if needed): 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________. 
Appeal Deadline: 30 days from written determination. 
 
 
 
 

59



AGENDA ITEM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: James Harpring, Town Manager 

DATE: October 31, 2025 

SUBJECT: Proposed Town Council Meeting Schedule - 2026 

BACKGROUND: 

Town Council annually establishes a schedule for Town Council Meetings and Holiday 
Closings. Attached is a recommended schedule for 2026. The following dates are pending: 

September: First Public Budget Hearing 

November: Regular Town Council Meeting. The meeting date for November 2026 falls on 
November 26, Thanksgiving Day. 

December: Regular Town Council Meeting. The meeting date for December 2026 falls on 
December 24, Christmas Eve. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommend Council establish the Town Council Meeting Schedule and Holiday 
Closing Schedule for 2026. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Draft Town Council Meeting Schedule - 2026

60

8e.



 
 

 
 

 
TOWN COUNCIL MEETING SCHEDULE – 2026 

 
JANUARY: Thursday, January 22, 2026 at 9:00 a.m. 
FEBRUARY: Tuesday, February 17, 2026 at 9:00 a.m. 
MARCH: Thursday, March 26, 2026 at 9:00 a.m. 
APRIL: Thursday, April 23, 2026 at 9:00 a.m. 
MAY: Thursday, May 28, 2026 at 9:00 a.m. 
JUNE: Thursday, June 25, 2026 at 9:00 a.m. 
JULY: Thursday, July 23, 2026 at 9:00 a.m. 
AUGUST: Thursday, August 27, 2026 at 9:00 a.m. 
SEPTEMBER: Tuesday, September at 5:01 p.m. (First Public Budget Hearing)  TBD 
 Tuesday, September 24, 2026 at 3:30 p.m. (Regular Town Council Meeting) 
 Tuesday, September 24, 2026 at 5:01 p.m. (Final Public Budget Hearing) 
OCTOBER: Thursday, October 22, 2026 at 9:00 a.m. 
NOVEMBER: Thursday, November          at 9:00 a.m. TBD 
DECEMBER: Thursday,  December           at 9:00 a.m.  TBD 

 
All meetings are held in Council Chambers, 6001 Highway A1A, Indian River Shores, FL. 

 
 

HOLIDAY CLOSINGS – 2026 
 

New Year’s Day January 1, 2026 
President’s Day February 16, 2026 
Good Friday April 3, 2026 
Memorial Day May 25, 2026 
Independence Day Holiday July 3, 2026 
Labor Day September 7, 2026 
Veteran’s Day November 11, 2026 
Thanksgiving Day November 26, 2026 
Thanksgiving Holiday November 27, 2026 
Christmas Eve December 24, 2026 
Christmas Day December 25, 2026 

 
 

61



OCTOBER (2025) 5

2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26
NEW CONSTRUCTION 2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26
SINGLE FAMILY 0 3 0 3 -$   7,075,000.00$   
MULTI FAMILY 0 0 0 0 -$   -$   
COMMERCIAL 0 0 0 0 -$   -$   
(SUB-TOTAL) 0 3 0 3 -$   7,075,000.00$   

ADDITIONS / ALTERATIONS 2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26
SINGLE FAMILY 29 37 29 37 1,852,822.87$   2,947,747.13$   
MULTI FAMILY 14 14 14 14 1,591,001.78$   174,784.25$   
COMMERCIAL 2 12 2 12 15,969.16$   1,385,749.15$   
(SUB-TOTAL) 45 63 45 63 3,459,793.81$   4,508,280.53$   

OTHER PERMITS (MISC.) 2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26
(TOTALS) 45 115 45 115 448,429.59$   1,911,366.00$   

INSPECTIONS* 2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26 65,426.69$   85,106.30$   65,426.69$   85,106.30$   
(TOTALS) 386 448 386 448

PLAN REVIEWS* 2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26
(TOTALS) 109 129 109 129

Inspections are completed within 24 hrs of request.  

PERMITS*** PERMITS ISSUED 
THIS MONTH

PERMITS ISSUED 
FS/YR TO DATE

CONSTRUCTION VALUATION FS/YR 
TO DATE

FEES COLLECTED FEES COLLECTED
THIS MONTH FISCAL YTD

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

70000

80000

90000

2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26

THIS MONTH FISCAL YTD

FEES COLLECTED FEES COLLECTED

FEES COLLECTED

0 0 0

3

0 00 0 0

3

0 0
0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

SINGLE FAMILY MULTI FAMILY COMMERCIAL

NEW CONSTRUCTION 
PERMITS MONTH & FS/YR 

DATE

2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26

29

37

29

37

14 14 14 14

2

12

2

12

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26

ADD/ALT PERMITS MONTH & 
FS/YR DATE

SINGLE FAMILY MULTI FAMILY COMMERCIAL
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26

MISCELLANEOUS 
PERMITS

109

129

109

129

95

100

105

110

115

120

125

130

135

2024/25 2025/26 2024/25 2025/26

PLAN REVIEWS

340

360

380

400

420

440

460

2024/25 2025/26

INSPECTIONS

62

9a.



Page 1 of 2 

6001 Highway A1A, Indian River Shores, FL  32963 
(772) 231-1771

To: Town Manager Jim Harpring 

From: Fire Marshal/Code Enforcement Official/Building Inspector, Jacob Maikranz 

Date: October 16, 2025 – November 10, 2025 

Ref: Monthly Code Enforcement Report 

The following Code Enforcement violations were observed and rectified: 

ANNUAL FIRE & LIFE SAFETY INSPECTIONS 

An annual fire and life safety inspection was completed at Oak Point Professional Center and Pebble Beach 
Villas. Fire Code violations were observed; inspection reports were emailed to the respective property 
management companies and were given 30 days to rectify the violations and become compliant with the 
Fire Code. Re-inspections were scheduled, and all properties are now in compliance. 

- KNOX BOX INSPECTIONS:

1) A Knox Gate Access Switch was installed at the Village Shores gated community.

SIGN VIOLATIONS 

- One (1) advertisement and five (5) Real Estate signs were removed from Highway A1A’s right-of-
way throughout the Town. The business and real estate agents were notified, and written warnings
with a copy of the Town’s Ordinance were issued.

ORDINANCE COMPLAINTS 

- Received a call from a resident, who had questions relating to Town Ordinance and parking. The
resident was given a copy of the ordinance, and all questions were answered.

- A follow up email was sent to the resident at 5301 Hwy A1A, which provided information on
intersection visibility and the visibility triangle where stated in the Town Ordinance.

MAYOR 
   BRIAN T. FOLEY 

VICE MAYOR 
   BOB AUWAERTER  

COUNCIL: 
   JAMES M. ALTIERI 
   JESSE L. “SAM” CARROLL, JR. 
   WILLIAM DANE 

TOWN MANAGER 
   JAMES HARPRING 

TOWN CLERK 
   JANICE RUTAN  

TOWN ATTORNEY 
   PETER J. SWEENEY, JR. 

63

9b.



Page 2 of 2 
 

- Ongoing code investigation at Ocean Pearl II East and The Blue community. A survey was initiated 
and completed by Meridian Land Surveyors to determine the property/boundary line. The final 
survey report has not been submitted at this time. 

 
SHORT-TERM VACATION RENTALS 
 

- Multiple STVR owners have submitted the required application and fees. Fire Safety inspections 
are pending for four (4) properties and will be in compliance with the Town once approved. 

 
- Spoke with four (4) unregistered STVR owners regarding the proper steps to follow and the 

required documents needed in order to register the rental with the Town and become compliant. 
 
LIEN REQUESTS 
 

- Between October 16, 2025 – November 10, 2025, eight (8) lien requests were processed. 
 
 
OTHER 
 
 

- Reviewed fire plans, building permits and plans for code compliance for renovated, altered, existing 
and new buildings. After review, on-site inspections were requested and scheduled from the 
contractors. All inspections were conducted, and re-inspections were scheduled, if needed, when 
deficiencies were observed. All properties met compliance after re-inspection.  

64



NOVEMBER (2025)

BREAKDOWN

2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 COMPLAINTS 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25
CODE ENFORCEMENT 10 16 122 105 ORDINANCE 1 3 29 28
FIRE CODE 5 3 143 154 BUILDING 16 6
BUILDING CODE 16 5 SIGNS 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25
OTHER/LIEN REQUESTS 6 9 124 185 ADVERTISEMENT 6 1 12 18
(SUB-TOTAL) 21 28 405 449 REAL ESTATE 3 4 80 30

STVR 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25
ACTIVE 1 1
INACTIVE/UNREGISTERED 8 27
CANCELED

LIEN REQUESTS 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25
REQUESTS 5 8 110 150
FIRE INSPECTIONS 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25
FIRE INSPECTIONS 5 3 143 154

OTHER 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25
1 1 14 35

TOTAL 21 28 405 449

VIOLATIONS
AND

LIEN REQUESTS

CODE ACTIVITY
THIS MONTH

CODE ACTIVITY 
FS/YR TO DATE

ACTIVITY BY
MONTH

ACTIVITY BY
FISCAL YEAR

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

CODE
ENFORCEMENT

FIRE CODE BUILDING CODE OTHER/LIEN
REQUESTS

(SUB-TOTAL)

YEARLY MONTH-TO-MONTH COMPARISON

CODE ACTIVITY
THIS MONTH 2023/24

CODE ACTIVITY
THIS MONTH 2024/25

0 100 200 300 400 500

CODE ENFORCEMENT

FIRE CODE

BUILDING CODE

OTHER/LIEN REQUESTS

(SUB-TOTAL)

YEAR-TO-YEAR COMPARISON

CODE ACTIVITY
FS/YR TO DATE 2024/25

CODE ACTIVITY
FS/YR TO DATE 2023/24

0

20

40

2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25

COMPLAINTS

ORDINANCE BUILDING

0

50

100

2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25

SIGNS

ADVERTISEMENT REAL ESTATE

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

2023/24

2024/25

2023/24

2024/25

SHORT-TERM VACATION RENTAL

CANCELED INACTIVE/UNREGISTERED ACTIVE

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160

2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25

LIEN REQUESTS

0

50

100

150

200

2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25

FIRE INSPECTIONS

65



6001 Highway A1A, Indian River Shores, FL  32963 
(772) 231-1771

Public Works and Facilities  
STATUS REPORT  

11/12/2025 

NPDES MS4 

 Completed inspections post rain events on October 6th, 8th, 10th, 16th, 27th and November 7th and
stormwater pollution prevention plan reports for compliance with NPDES M4 permit requirements.

 Documented swales at Old Winter Beach Road retained water after substantial rain event on 10/8/25.

CEMETERY 

 Onsite cemetery visit to locate and mark grave marker for burial service on November 8th.
 Hedge and mulch project at JI Cemetery:  developed scope of service (remove existing hedge, level

ground, installation of 200 seven-gallon Clusia, deliver and install 65-bags of mulch, and irrigation
adjustment as necessary), coordinated with vendors for onsite review of project, completed review of
quotes, references from lowest bidder received and currently under review. Project award pending.

BEACH, SR A1A AND ROADS 

 Located damage to sidewalk at Old Winter Beach Road. Established scope of service for repairs.
Coordinated with vendors for onsite project review.  Quotes received and under review. Project award
pending.

 Resod project at Town Hall Courtyard: coordinated with vendors for onsite review of project, met with
several landscaping companies to discuss scope of services and review project, initial quotes received
from two companies, project award pending receipt of additional quotes.

 Communicated with FPL for follow up for light repair at Reef Lane.
 Fred Tuerk Drive overgrowth project: vendor selected; project start date scheduled for November 13th.
 Identified water issue at Village Shop: coordinated with COVB to inspect issue and determine course

of action; repairs completed.

TOWN HALL AND PSD 

 Coordinated with vendors for two quotes either to repair or reroof of Building Department/Finance
Building roof.  Company responsible for roof install in 2019 to complete repairs under terms of
warranty.  Roof repairs being scheduled.

TOWN MANAGER 
  JAMES HARPRING, JD 

TOWN CLERK 
  JANICE RUTAN  

TOWN ATTORNEY 
  PETER J. SWEENEY, JR. 

MAYOR 
  BRIAN T. FOLEY 

VICE MAYOR 
  BOB AUWAERTER 

COUNCIL: 
  JAMES ALTIERI 
  JESSE L. “SAM” CARROLL, JR. 
  WILLIAM DANE 

66

9c.



 

October 8th 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67



 

Before trimming 

After trimming 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

68



 

Sidewalk repair at Old Winter Beach Road 
 

 

69



 

 

70



October 2025 Expenditure Analysis 1 of 3 

6001 A1A, Indian River Shores, FL  32963 
(772) 231-1771

 
 

Memorandum 
TO:  Jim Harpring, Town Manager 

FROM:  Heather Christmas, Town Treasurer 

DATE: November 5, 2025 

SUBJECT: October 2025 Budget Analysis 

The October 2025 budget analysis was prepared using financial data available as of 
November 5, 2025. To date, no amendments have been adopted to the FY 2025–2026 
budget; however, the first budget amendment will be presented at the November Town 
Council meeting for consideration.  

As this is the first review of the current fiscal year’s activity, forecasted amounts generally 
align with the adopted budget, except as noted in the following adjustments included in 
the proposed amendment:   

1. Postal Center - An increase of $28,000 reflects changes in employee benefit
elections for this department.

2. Public Works – A reduction of $25,000 results from benefit enrollment changes. In
addition, $50,000 has been carried forward for prior-year projects not completed
before year-end, including the dune crossover access gate and lighting
improvements.

3. Public Safety – $25,000 has been allocated for equipment ordered but not received
before fiscal year-end, including AEDs, bunker gear, and other fire-related items.

4. Information Technology – $63,230 has been reappropriated for projects not
completed during the prior year, including the server room renovation and
workflow/records management software. An additional $29,150 has been included
for the new Town website approved by Town Council on September 23, 2025.

MAYOR 
  BRIAN T. FOLEY 

VICE MAYOR 
  BOB AUWAERTER 

COUNCIL: 
  JAMES ALTIERI 
  JESSE L. “SAM” CARROLL, JR. 
  WILLIAM DANE 

TOWN MANAGER 
  JAMES HARPRING 

TOWN CLERK 
  JANICE RUTAN  

TOWN ATTORNEY 
  PETER J. SWEENEY, JR. 

71

9d.



October 2025 Expenditure Analysis  2 of 3 

5. Planning Board / Code Enforcement – $5,000 has been appropriated for software to 
assist in identifying and monitoring short-term rental properties within the Town. 
 

6. Engineering – $53,030 has been carried forward to continue ongoing work on the 
Comprehensive Plan update, Stormwater Atlas, BMAP, and NPDES/MS4 compliance 
activities. 
 

7. Capital Revenues – The Town anticipates receiving approximately $416,000 in 
insurance proceeds related to the ambulance electrical fire and associated 
equipment replacement. 

 
8. Capital Expenditures - Forecasted capital activity exceeds the current budget due to 

several carryforward and new project requirements. These include $25,000 for 
cemetery landscaping improvements, $840,000 for continuation of the Pebble Lane 
and Beachcomber Lane reconstruction projects, and $155,000 for the Public Safety 
Building renovation. An additional $200,000 is projected for the Town Council HVAC 
and cupola replacement, along with the Town Hall roof replacement, to be funded 
through infrastructure replacement reserves. The forecast also includes $416,000 
for the purchase of a replacement ambulance and related equipment, fully offset by 
anticipated insurance proceeds. 

72



TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER SHORES
2026 BUDGET ANALYSIS 5%
AS OF OCTOBER 2025

FUND/Department As of 10/31/2025 Prorated Budget

 Difference to 
Prorated Budget 

 Amended 
2025 Budget 

 Forcasted 
Actual 

 Difference to 
2025 Budget Notes

% of Budget 
Utilized*

GENERAL FUND
Operating revenues 56,375$                       56,375                       -$                             8,659,238$      8,659,238$          -$                             1%

Town Council 2,898                            2,898                          -                                92,274               92,274                   -                                3%
Town Manager 20,167                         20,167                       -                                354,368             354,368                 -                                6%
Finance Department 14,658                         14,658                       -                                385,897             385,897                 -                                4%
Town Clerk 9,752                            9,752                          -                                176,888             176,888                 -                                6%
Postal Center -                       

Operating 8,934                            6,844                          (2,090)                     91,711               119,711                 (28,000)                  1 10%
Cost of Stamps sold 7,200                            7,200                          -                                170,300             170,300                 -                                4%

Public Works 23,010                         21,745                       (1,265)                     429,841             454,841                 (25,000)                  2 5%
Public Safety 342,587                       340,977                     (1,610)                     5,295,408         5,320,408             (25,000)                  3 6%
General Administration 83,471                         83,471                       -                                384,736             384,736                 -                                22%
Information Tech 33,767                         23,591                       (10,176)                  214,161             306,541                 (92,380)                  4 16%
Town Attorney -                                      -                               -                                255,000             255,000                 -                                0%
Code Enforc/PZB Board 8,328                            8,008                          (320)                         124,979             129,979                 (5,000)                     5 7%
Town Engineer -                                      -                               -                                70,000               123,030                 (53,030)                  6 0%
Waterway Transportation -                                      -                               -                                40,000               40,000                   -                                0%
Cemetery 42                                  42                                -                                17,449               17,449                   -                                0%
Community Center 166                                166                              -                                31,337               31,337                   -                                1%

Total Expenditures 554,980                       539,519                     (15,461)                  8,134,349         8,362,759             (228,410)                7%
Operating Surplus (498,605)$                   (483,144)$                 (15,461)$               524,889$          296,479$              (228,410)$             

Capital Activity
Capital source revenues -$                                   -$                                 -$                             830,000$          1,246,000$          416,000$              7 0%
Capital Expenditures -                                      -                               -                                1,037,300         2,673,300             (1,636,000)            8 0%

-$                                   -$                                 -$                             (207,300)$         (1,427,300)$         (1,220,000)$         

Estimated Surplus/Contingency 317,589$          (1,130,821)$         (1,448,410)$         

ROAD AND OFFSITE DRAINAGE
Total Revenues 2,049$                         2,049$                       -$                             120,076$          120,076$              -$                             2%

Total Expenditures 2,261                            2,261                          -                                69,617               69,617                   -                                3%
Surplus (212)$                            (212)$                          -$                             50,459$             50,459$                 -$                             

SOLID WASTE SPECIAL ASSESSMENT FUND
Total Revenues 1,077$                         1,077$                       -$                             337,329$          337,329$              -$                             0%

Total Expenditures -                                      -                                    -                                337,329             337,329                 -                                0%
Surplus 1,077$                         1,077$                       -$                             -$                         -$                             -$                             

PLANNING, ZONING AND BUILDING FUND
Total Revenues 90,732$                       90,732$                     -$                             930,918$          930,918$              -$                             10%

Building Department 45,163                         45,163                       -                                863,478             863,478                 -                                5%
Capital Expenditures -                                      -                               -                                15,000               15,000                   -                                0%
General Administration 3,699                            3,699                          -                                77,398               77,398                   -                                5%

Total Expenditures 48,862                         48,862                       -                                955,876             955,876                 -                                5%
Surplus 41,870$                       41,870$                     -$                             (24,958)$           (24,958)$               -$                             

Prepared by H. Christmas 
November 5, 2025 Page 3 of 373



  TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER SHORES
FINANCIAL CASH REPORT

 FOR OCTOBER 2025

CASH AND INVESTMENTS ON DEPOSIT:
Beginning Balance 8,641,995$         
ADD: Receipts 389,815               
LESS: Disbursements (812,770)             

TOTAL ON DEPOSIT 8,219,040$         

ACCOUNTS DETAILED:
SouthState Bank (0.08% interest rate)** 463,656$            

State & Local Government Investment Pool: 7,755,384           
Florida Prime (4.29% interest rate)

TOTAL ALL ACCOUNTS 8,219,040$         

FUND BREAKOUT*
General Fund 7,292,775$         
Road & Bridge Fund 50,954                 
Bike Path & Pedestrian Way 29,463                 
Planning Zoning & Building Fund 844,752               
Solid Waste Special Assessment Fund 1,077                   
Law Enforcement Forfeiture Fund 19                         

TOTAL ALL FUNDS 8,219,040$         

**all Bank Deposits are held in 100% 
Guaranteed Florida Qualified Public Depositories

Estimated Balance based on
 information available as of 11/05/2025

74



 ORIGINAL 
ESTIMATES 

 CHANGE 
ORDERS* 

 CURRENT
ESTIMATES 

 PAID TO 
DATE** 

 REMAINING TO 
COMPLETION 

ENGINEER  $        54,000  $      72,930  $      126,930 125,730                            1,200 
CONSTRUCTION      1,088,882        217,656       1,306,538 1,271,271                       35,267 
ACCESS CONTROL          152,843            7,300          160,143          160,143                              - 
CONTINGENCY          300,000      (224,956)            75,044 -                                       75,044 
TOTAL COST 1,595,725$  72,930$      1,668,655$   1,557,144$  111,511$             

# of Council 
Approved 

$ of Council 
Approved

# of Town 
Manager 
Approved 

$ of Town 
Manager 
Approved

 % of Town 
Manager 

Engineer                      1          64,680 1                     8,250            7%
Construction                      2        165,086 2                     52,570          4%
Access Control                     -                     -   1                     7,300            5%

 The Town Manager is authorized to approve change orders to contracts executed under the Town Manager’s 
authority and the total value of the contract does not exceed 15 percent. 

Changes in excess of 15 percent of the total contract price or any change in excess of $35,000 must have the
prior approval of the Town Council. 

Key Vendors:
Engineer Kimley Horn and Associates, Inc.
Construction De La Hoz Builders, Inc.
Access Control Indian River Camera and Access

** Amounts paid-to-date include retainage
Current retainage balance:  $    127,127 

TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER SHORES
PUBLIC SAFETY REMODEL

AS OF 10/31/2025

Change orders

Prepared by H. Christmas 75



  TOWN OF INDIAN RIVER SHORES
PENSION REPORT
FISCAL YEAR 2025

Total General Other Post-
Police & Fire Employee Defined Employment
Pension Plan Benefit Plan Benefit Plan

Net Position at October 1, 2024 20,158,050$                 1,809,641$            2,642,594$              

Contributions
Employer* 311,222                        36,459                   -                               
Employee* 141,528                        1,044                     -                               
State 438,623                        -                            -                               

Total contributions 891,373                        37,503                   -                               

Distributions (1,955,137)                    (40,965)                 (171,508)                  

Earnings 2,281,720                     160,202                 241,829                   

Fees* (156,245)                       (9,894)                   (3,157)                      

Net Position September 30, 2025* 21,219,761$                 1,956,487$            2,709,759$              

* Includes estimates for accrued contributions and expenses as of 09/30/2025.

Current Performance % 11.88% 8.51% 9.04%
Investment return for the FY 2024 22.19% 20.96% 21.77%
Investment return for the FY 2023 10.19% 9.32% 10.20%
Investment return for the FY 2022 -13.10% -13.80% -14.46%
Investment return for the FY 2021 16.41% 22.20% 19.86%
Investment return for the FY 2020 3.68% 6.82% 7.01%
Investment return for the FY 2019 5.99% 5.60% 4.94%
Investment return for the FY 2018 8.84% 8.99% 8.38%
Investment return for the FY 2017 9.46% 15.78% 13.70%
Investment return for the FY 2016 12.18% 8.58% 11.32%
Investment return for the FY 2015 -2.76% -0.10% -3.43%

Average performance net of fees 7.72% 8.44% 8.03%

Latest Actuarial Study Date 10/1/2024 10/1/2024 10/1/2024

Key Assumptions
Asset Mix Target 60/30/10 60/30/10 60/30/10
Investment Return Rate % 6.75% 5.90% 6.04%

Funding Status
Actuarial Value of Assets 20,144,482                   1,809,641              2,642,594                
Actuarial Accrual Liability 18,454,406                   1,451,445              1,612,414                
Underfunded/(Surplus) $ (1,690,076)                    (358,196)               (1,030,180)               
% Funded 109.16% 124.68% 163.89%
% Funded Prior Actuarial 95.90% 93.68% 137.89%

Contributions
2025 Required Contribution % 17.79% 0.00% 0.00%
2024 Required Contribution % 17.79% 40.34% 0.00%
2023 Required Contribution % 22.74% 44.75% 0.00%
2022 Required Contribution % 12.57% 24.86% 0.00%
2021 Required Contribution % 12.72% 40.91% 0.00%
2020 Required Contribution % 14.42% 43.05% 0.00%

Latest Actuarial Study

October 2024 - September 2025 Activity

Balances based on information available as of 10/28/2025.
Amounts provided are for analysis purposes only and should not be used to determine the actual plan value.

76



0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct

M
in

ut
es

November 2024 - October 2025

Public Safety Response Times

LE Response Times

Fire Response Times

EMS Response Times

77

9e.



0

20
40

60
80

100
120

140
160

180
200

Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct

November 2024 - October 2025

Public Safety Calls for Service

LE Calls for Service

Fire Rescue Calls

EMS Calls

78



0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct

November 2024 - October 2025

Law Enforcement Interactions with 
Public

Criminal Citations

Infractions

Warnings

Total Action Responses

Investigative Stops

79



  Created: 2025-08-26 15:46:51 [EST]

(Supp. No. 6) 

Page 1 of 1 

Sec. 91.05. Prohibited acts. 

In order to assure that the public health, safety and welfare of all persons using public or commercial 
beaches within the Town is maintained, it shall be the duty of all persons operating, maintaining, and using any 
public or commercial beaches to adhere to the following minimum regulations:  

(1) Alcoholic beverages. The drinking, selling or possession of spirituous beverages, including liquor, beer
and wine, in any manner of containers shall be prohibited at or on the beaches.

(2) Hours. The park and beach areas shall be closed during the hours between 9:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. of
the next day. It shall be unlawful for any person or persons to use the park or beach areas during these
times.

(3) Reserved.

(4) Surfing. It shall be unlawful for any person to surf or use surfboards within any park and beach areas,
including the waters of the Atlantic Ocean within the park and beach boundaries.

(1978 Code, § 4.02(e), (g)—(i); Ord. No. 96, 9-17-70; Ord. No. 468, § 1, 7-25-2002) 

Cross reference(s)—Operation of vehicles on beaches prohibited, § 70.02.  

80

11.



Name Address

Morgan, Steven and Theresa 935 Beachcomber Lane

Topal, Steven and Verna 925 Beachcomber Lane

Margadonna, Mark and Mary Lou 926 Beachcomber Lane

Jones, Michael and Johanna 916 Beachcomber Lane

Rathke, Joan 936 Beachcomber Lane

Aben, Cornelius (Jerry) 945 Beachcomber Lane

Grant, Susan Lynn 945 Beachcomber Lane

Hagerty, Brian 946 Beachcomber

Arnold, Louise 955 Beachcomber Lane

Sommers, Clare 956 Beachcomber Lane

Terry, Charlotte 965 Beachcomber Lane

Dixon, Daniel and Eleanor 966 Beachcomber Lane

Naylor, Gordon and Annamarie 975 Beachcomber Lane

Leman, Doug and Gates, Denise 976 Beachcomber Lane

Jaramillo, E. Terry 109 W. Park Shores Cir, Apt. 40W 

Yeomanson, Francis Peter 214C Park Shores 

Yeomanson, Yvonne 214C Park Shores  

Monahan, Denis 220 E Park Shores Circle 

Nix, Ron and Sue 5601 #211N 

Zook, Diane 416 Conn Way, Vero Beach, FL  32963

Popio, John A. 129 Park Shores Cir #129 

Heartfield, Betsy 5601 Hwy A1A Robles Del Mar 

Brugler, Debbie 107 Park Shores Circle  Apt. 21 and 22 W

Silkworth, Denise 104 River Oak Drive 

Kaylor, Kay 123 E Park Shores Circle 25E

Paulsen, Charlotte 125 E Park Shores Circle #24E

McCrea, Nancy 131 East Park Shores Circle

Johnson, Phil and Dilys 101 Park Shores Circle Unit 7W

Pierson, Dee 101 W. Park Shores Circle 1W 

Pierson, Duane 101 W. Park Shores Circle 1W 

Robertson, Elizabeth 271 Island Creek

Roff, Suzanne 200 Sable Oak Lane #301

Hallerman, Helen 404 Sable Oak Drive

McDermott, Michael & Brenda 107 Park Shores Circle W, Unit 28W

Cupp, Olen 222A Park Shores Circle  

Scott, Cynthia 222A Park Shores Circle

Colon, Gabriel & Lillian 105 W. Park Shores Circle Apt. 19  

Salerno, Joseph 221A Park Shores Circle 

Howell, Lynn 213B Park Shores Circle

Blew-Ochoa, Betsy 221C Park Shores Circle  

Blew, Marilyn 221C Park Shores Circle  

Cleary, Christopher and Elizabeth 105 Park Shores Circle 20W
Warriner, Cheryl 227B Park Shores Circle  

Terry, Charlotte 965 Beachcomber Lane

Roberts, Cynthia 129 Park Shores Cir Unit 18E 

Dean, Jeffrey 107 Park Shores Circle 23W

81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166


	5a.  Approval of Minutes of Town Council Meeting dated October 23, 2025
	5b.  Approval of Communications International - Sole Source Provider
	5c. Approval of 2025 EMC-MC Ambulance Annual Adjustments and Allowances
	5d. Approval of Purchase of Ambulance Remount
	5e. Approval of Appointment to the TCRPC
	5g.  Approval of Resolution No. 25-17 Leave Policy for Full Time Employees
	5h. Approval of Resolution No. 25-18 Amending FY 24.25 Budget
	5i.  Approval of Resolution No. 25-19 Amending FY 25.26 Budget
	8a. Adoption of Ordinance 584 Amendment to Section 165.16
	8b.  Adoption of Ordinance No. 585 168.01(f) Minor Modification - Approved Site Plan
	8c.  Adoption of Ordinance No. 586 Certified Recovery Residence Procedures
	8e. 2026 Council Meeting Dates and Holiday Schedule
	9a. Building Official Report & Statistics
	9b. Code Enforcement Monthly Report
	9c. Public Works Department Report
	9d. Town Treasurer Report
	9e. Public Safety Department Report & Statistics
	11. Beachcomber Lane Update



